UC Berkeley UC Berkeley Previously Published Works

Title

An Experimental Exploration of the QCD Phase Diagram: The Search for the Critical Point and the Onset of De-confinement

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/5r83n76v

Authors Collaboration, STAR Aggarwal, MM Ahammed, Z <u>et al.</u>

Publication Date 2010-07-15

Peer reviewed

An Experimental Exploration of the QCD Phase Diagram: The Search for the Critical Point and the Onset of De-confinement

M. M. Aggarwal,³¹ Z. Ahammed,⁴⁸ A. V. Alakhverdyants,¹⁸ I. Alekseev ,¹⁶ B. D. Anderson,¹⁹ D. Arkhipkin,³ G. S. Averichev,¹⁸ J. Balewski,²³ L. S. Barnby,² S. Baumgart,⁵³ D. R. Beavis,³ R. Bellwied,⁵¹ M. J. Betancourt,²³ R. R. Betts,⁸ A. Bhasin,¹⁷ A. K. Bhati,³¹ H. Bichsel,⁵⁰ J. Bielcik,¹⁰ J. Bielcikova,¹¹ B. Biritz,⁶ L. C. Bland,³ B. E. Bonner,³⁷ J. Bouchet,¹⁹ E. Braidot,²⁸ A. V. Brandin,²⁶ A. Bridgeman,¹ E. Bruna,⁵³ S. Bueltmann,³⁰ I. Bunzarov,¹⁸ T. P. Burton,³ X. Z. Cai,⁴¹ H. Caines,⁵³ M. Calderón de la Barca Sánchez,⁵ O. Catu,⁵³ D. Cebra,⁵ R. Cendejas,⁶ M. C. Cervantes,⁴³ Z. Chajecki,²⁹ P. Chaloupka,¹¹ S. Chattopadhyay,⁴⁸ H. F. Chen,³⁹ J. H. Chen,⁴¹ J. Y. Chen,⁵² J. Cheng,⁴⁵ M. Cherney,⁹ A. Chikanian,⁵³ K. E. Choi,³⁵ W. Christie,³ P. Chung,¹¹ R. F. Clarke,⁴³ M. J. M. Codrington,⁴³ R. Corliss,²³ J. G. Cramer,⁵⁰ H. J. Crawford,⁴ D. Das,⁵ S. Dash,¹³ A. Davila Leyva,⁴⁴ L. C. De Silva,⁵¹ R. R. Debbe,³ T. G. Dedovich,¹⁸ A. A. Derevschikov,³³ R. Derradi de Souza,⁷ L. Didenko,³ P. Djawotho,⁴³ S. M. Dogra,¹⁷ X. Dong,²² J. L. Drachenberg,⁴³ J. E. Draper,⁵ J. C. Dunlop,³ M. R. Dutta Mazumdar,⁴⁸ L. G. Efimov,¹⁸ E. Elhalhuli,² M. Elnimr,⁵¹ J. Engelage,⁴ G. Eppley,³⁷ B. Erazmus,⁴² M. Estienne,⁴² L. Eun,³² O. Evdokimov,⁸ P. Fachini,³ R. Fatemi,²⁰ J. Fedorisin,¹⁸ R. G. Fersch,²⁰ P. Filip,¹⁸ E. Finch,⁵³ V. Fine,³ Y. Fisyak,³ C. A. Gagliardi,⁴³ D. R. Gangadharan,⁶ M. S. Ganti,⁴⁸ E. J. Garcia-Solis,⁸ A. Geromitsos,⁴² F. Geurts,³⁷ V. Ghazikhanian,⁶ P. Ghosh,⁴⁸ Y. N. Gorbunov,⁹ A. Gordon,³ O. Grebenyuk,²² D. Grosnick,⁴⁷ S. M. Guertin,⁶ A. Gupta,¹⁷ N. Gupta,¹⁷ W. Guryn,³ B. Haag,⁵ A. Hamed,⁴³ L-X. Han,⁴¹ J. W. Harris,⁵³ J. P. Hays-Wehle,²³ M. Heinz,⁵³ S. Heppelmann,³² A. Hirsch,³⁴ E. Hjort,²² A. M. Hoffman,²³
G. W. Hoffmann,⁴⁴ D. J. Hofman,⁸ B. Huang,³⁹ H. Z. Huang,⁶ T. J. Humanic,²⁹ L. Huo,⁴³ G. Igo,⁶ P. Jacobs,²²
W. W. Jacobs,¹⁵ C. Jena,¹³ F. Jin,⁴¹ C. L. Jones,²³ P. G. Jones,² J. Joseph,¹⁹ E. G. Judd,⁴ S. Kabana,⁴² K. Kajimoto,⁴⁴ K. Kang,⁴⁵ J. Kapitan,¹¹ K. Kauder,⁸ D. Keane,¹⁹ A. Kechechyan,¹⁸ D. Kettler,⁵⁰ D. P. Kikola,²² J. Kiryluk,²² A. Kisiel,⁴⁹ S. R. Klein,²² A. G. Knospe,⁵³ A. Kocoloski,²³ D. D. Koetke,⁴⁷ T. Kollegger,¹² J. Konzer,³⁴ I. Koralt,³⁰ L. Koroleva,¹⁶ W. Korsch,²⁰ L. Kotchenda,²⁶ V. Kouchpil,¹¹ P. Kravtsov,²⁶ K. Krueger,¹ M. Krus,¹⁰ L. Kumar,¹⁹ P. Kurnadi,⁶ M. A. C. Lamont,³ J. M. Landgraf,³ S. LaPointe,⁵¹ J. Lauret,³ A. Lebedev,³ R. Lednicky,¹⁸ C-H. Lee,³⁵ J. H. Lee,³ W. Leight,²³ M. J. LeVine,³ C. Li,³⁹ L. Li,⁴⁴ N. Li,⁵² W. Li,⁴¹ X. Li,⁴⁰ X. Li,³⁴ Y. Li,⁴⁵ Z. M. Li,⁵² G. Lin,⁵³ S. J. Lindenbaum,²⁷ M. A. Lisa,²⁹ F. Liu,⁵² H. Liu,⁵ J. Liu,³⁷ T. Ljubicic,³ W. J. Llope,³⁷ R. S. Longacre,³ W. A. Love,³ Y. Lu,³⁹ X. Luo,³⁹ G. L. Ma,⁴¹ Y. G. Ma,⁴¹ D. P. Mahapatra,¹³ R. Majka,⁵³ O. I. Mall,⁵ L. K. Mangotra,¹⁷ R. Manweiler,⁴⁷ S. Margetis,¹⁹ C. Markert,⁴⁴ H. Masui,²² H. S. Matis,²² Yu. A. Matulenko,³³ D. McDonald,³⁷ T. S. McShane,⁹ A. Meschanin,³³ R. Milner,²³ N. G. Minaev,³³ S. Mioduszewski,⁴³ A. Mischke,²⁸ M. K. Mitrovski,¹² B. Mohanty,⁴⁸ M. M. Mondal,⁴⁸ B. Morozov,¹⁶
D. A. Morozov,³³ M. G. Munhoz,³⁸ B. K. Nandi,¹⁴ C. Nattrass,⁵³ T. K. Nayak,⁴⁸ J. M. Nelson,² P. K. Netrakanti,³⁴
M. J. Ng,⁴ L. V. Nogach,³³ S. B. Nurushev,³³ G. Odyniec,²² A. Ogawa,³ V. Okorokov,²⁶ E. W. Oldag,⁴⁴ D. Olson,²² M. Pachr,¹⁰ B. S. Page,¹⁵ S. K. Pal,⁴⁸ Y. Pandit,¹⁹ Y. Panebratsev,¹⁸ T. Pawlak,⁴⁹ T. Peitzmann,²⁸ V. Perevoztchikov,³ C. Perkins,⁴ W. Peryt,⁴⁹ S. C. Phatak,¹³ P. Pile,³ M. Planinic,⁵⁴ M. A. Ploskon,²² J. Pluta,⁴⁹ D. Plyku,³⁰ N. Poljak,⁵⁴ A. M. Poskanzer,²² B. V. K. S. Potukuchi,¹⁷ C. B. Powell,²² D. Prindle,⁵⁰ C. Pruneau,⁵¹ N. K. Pruthi,³¹ P. R. Pujahari,¹⁴ J. Putschke,⁵³ R. Raniwala,³⁶ S. Raniwala,³⁶ R. L. Ray,⁴⁴ R. Redwine,²³ R. Reed,⁵ H. G. Ritter,²² J. B. Roberts,³⁷ O. V. Rogachevskiy,¹⁸ J. L. Romero,⁵ A. Rose,²² C. Roy,⁴² L. Ruan,³ R. Sahoo,⁴² S. Sakai,⁶ I. Sakrejda,²² T. Sakuma,²³ S. Salur,⁵ J. Sandweiss,⁵³ E. Sangaline,⁵ J. Schambach,⁴⁴ R. P. Scharenberg,³⁴ N. Schmitz,²⁴ T. R. Schuster,¹² J. Seele,²³ J. Seger,⁹ I. Selyuzhenkov,¹⁵ P. Seyboth,²⁴ E. Shahaliev,¹⁸ M. Shao,³⁹ M. Sharma,⁵¹ S. S. Shi,⁵² E. P. Sichtermann,²² F. Simon,²⁴ R. N. Singaraju,⁴⁸ M. J. Skoby,³⁴ N. Smirnov,⁵³ P. Sorensen,³ J. Sowinski,¹⁵ H. M. Spinka,¹ B. Srivastava,³⁴ T. D. S. Stanislaus,⁴⁷ D. Staszak,⁶ J. R. Stevens,¹⁵ P. Sorensen, ⁹ J. Sowinski, ¹⁰ H. M. Spinka, ¹ D. Srivastava, ¹¹ L. D. S. Stamslaus, ¹¹ D. Staszak, ¹⁰ R. Stevens,
R. Stock, ¹² M. Strikhanov, ²⁶ B. Stringfellow, ³⁴ A. A. P. Suaide, ³⁸ M. C. Suarez, ⁸ N. L. Subba, ¹⁹ M. Sumbera, ¹¹ X. M. Sun, ²² Y. Sun, ³⁹ Z. Sun, ²¹ B. Surrow, ²³ D. N. Svirida, ¹⁶ T. J. M. Symons, ²² A. Szanto de Toledo, ³⁸ J. Takahashi, ⁷ A. H. Tang, ³ Z. Tang, ³⁹ L. H. Tarini, ⁵¹ T. Tarnowsky, ²⁵ D. Thein, ⁴⁴ J. H. Thomas, ²² J. Tian, ⁴¹ A. R. Timmins, ⁵¹ S. Timoshenko, ²⁶ D. Tlusty, ¹¹ M. Tokarev, ¹⁸ V. N. Tram, ²² S. Trentalange, ⁶ R. E. Tribble,⁴³ O. D. Tsai,⁶ J. Ulery,³⁴ T. Ullrich,³ D. G. Underwood,¹ G. Van Buren,³ M. van Leeuwen,²⁸ G. van Nieuwenhuizen,²³ J. A. Vanfossen, Jr.,¹⁹ R. Varma,¹⁴ G. M. S. Vasconcelos,⁷ A. N. Vasiliev,³³ F. Videbaek,³ Y. P. Viyogi,⁴⁸ S. Vokal,¹⁸ S. A. Voloshin,⁵¹ M. Wada,⁴⁴ M. Walker,²³ F. Wang,³⁴ G. Wang,⁶ H. Wang,²⁵ J. S. Wang,²¹ Q. Wang,³⁴ X. L. Wang,³⁹ Y. Wang,⁴⁵ G. Webb,²⁰ J. C. Webb,³ G. D. Westfall,²⁵ C. Whitten Jr.,⁶ H. Wieman,²² S. W. Wissink,¹⁵ R. Witt,⁴⁶ Y. F. Wu,⁵² W. Xie,³⁴ N. Xu,²² Q. H. Xu,⁴⁰ W. Xu,⁶ Y. Xu,³⁹ Z. Xu,³ L. Xue,⁴¹ Y. Yang,²¹ P. Yepes,³⁷ K. Yip,³ I-K. Yoo,³⁵ Q. Yue,⁴⁵ M. Zawisza,⁴⁹ H. Zbroszczyk,⁴⁹ W. Zhan,²¹ J. B. Zhang,⁵² S. Zhang,⁴¹ W. M. Zhang,¹⁹ X. P. Zhang,²² Y. Zhang,²² Z. P. Zhang,³⁹ J. Zhao,⁴¹

arXiv:1007.2613v1 [nucl-ex] 15 Jul 2010

C. Zhong,⁴¹ J. Zhou,³⁷ W. Zhou,⁴⁰ X. Zhu,⁴⁵ Y. H. Zhu,⁴¹ R. Zoulkarneev,¹⁸ and Y. Zoulkarneeva¹⁸

(STAR Collaboration)

¹Argonne National Laboratory, Argonne, Illinois 60439, USA

²University of Birmingham, Birmingham, United Kingdom

³Brookhaven National Laboratory, Upton, New York 11973, USA

⁴University of California, Berkeley, California 94720, USA

⁵University of California, Davis, California 95616, USA

⁶University of California, Los Angeles, California 90095, USA

⁷Universidade Estadual de Campinas, Sao Paulo, Brazil

⁸University of Illinois at Chicago, Chicago, Illinois 60607, USA

⁹Creighton University, Omaha, Nebraska 68178, USA

¹⁰Czech Technical University in Prague, FNSPE, Prague, 115 19, Czech Republic

¹¹Nuclear Physics Institute AS CR, 250 68 $\check{R}e\check{z}/Prague$, Czech Republic

¹²University of Frankfurt, Frankfurt, Germany

¹³Institute of Physics, Bhubaneswar 751005, India

¹⁴Indian Institute of Technology, Mumbai, India

¹⁵Indiana University, Bloomington, Indiana 47408, USA

¹⁶Alikhanov Institute for Theoretical and Experimental Physics, Moscow, Russia

¹⁷University of Jammu, Jammu 180001, India

¹⁸ Joint Institute for Nuclear Research, Dubna, 141 980, Russia

¹⁹Kent State University, Kent, Ohio 44242, USA

²⁰University of Kentucky, Lexington, Kentucky, 40506-0055, USA

²¹Institute of Modern Physics, Lanzhou, China

²²Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley, California 94720, USA

²³Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA 02139-4307, USA

²⁴Max-Planck-Institut für Physik, Munich, Germany

²⁵Michigan State University, East Lansing, Michigan 48824, USA

²⁶ Moscow Engineering Physics Institute, Moscow Russia

²⁷City College of New York, New York City, New York 10031, USA

²⁸NIKHEF and Utrecht University, Amsterdam, The Netherlands

²⁹Ohio State University, Columbus, Ohio 43210, USA

³⁰Old Dominion University, Norfolk, VA, 23529, USA

³¹Panjab University, Chandigarh 160014, India

³²Pennsylvania State University, University Park, Pennsylvania 16802, USA

³³Institute of High Energy Physics, Protvino, Russia

³⁴Purdue University, West Lafayette, Indiana 47907, USA

³⁵Pusan National University, Pusan, Republic of Korea

³⁶University of Rajasthan, Jaipur 302004, India

³⁷Rice University, Houston, Texas 77251, USA

³⁸Universidade de Sao Paulo, Sao Paulo, Brazil

³⁹University of Science & Technology of China, Hefei 230026, China

⁴⁰Shandong University, Jinan, Shandong 250100, China

⁴¹Shanghai Institute of Applied Physics, Shanghai 201800, China ⁴²SUBATECH, Nantes, France

⁴³Texas A&M University, College Station, Texas 77843, USA

44 University of Texas, Austin, Texas 78712, USA

⁴⁵Tsinghua University, Beijing 100084, China

⁴⁶United States Naval Academy, Annapolis, MD 21402, USA

⁴⁷ Valparaiso University, Valparaiso, Indiana 46383, USA

⁴⁸ Variable Energy Cyclotron Centre, Kolkata 700064, India

⁴⁹Warsaw University of Technology, Warsaw, Poland

⁵⁰University of Washington, Seattle, Washington 98195, USA

⁵¹ Wayne State University, Detroit, Michigan 48201, USA

⁵²Institute of Particle Physics, CCNU (HZNU), Wuhan 430079, China

⁵³Yale University, New Haven, Connecticut 06520, USA

⁵⁴University of Zagreb, Zagreb, HR-10002, Croatia

Contents

I.	Introduction	5
II.	Proposed Physics Measurements	7
	A. Locating the Critical Point	7
	1. Fluctuation Measures	7
	$\langle p_T \rangle$ Fluctuations	8
	K/π Fluctuations	9
	n/π Fluctuations	11
	K/n fluctuations	11
	Net proton Kurtosis	11
	Azimuthal Correlations and w. Eluctuations	12
	$\mathbf{Azimuthar Correlations}$ and \mathbf{v}_2 Fluctuations	10
	Photon Multiplicity Fluctuations	13
	2. FORWard-Dackward Correlations	14
	3. The Focussing Effect of the QCD Critical Point	15
	B. Locating a 1 ^{or} Order Transition and/or Changing the Equation of State	16
	1. Elliptic Flow	16
	2. Directed Flow	19
	3. Identified Particle p_T Spectra	20
	4. The K/ π and A/ \bar{p} Ratios	22
	5. Interferometry	22
	C. Turning off the Quark Gluon Plasma Signatures	24
	1. Constituent Quark Scaling of Elliptic Flow and Elliptic Flow of Multi-Strange Hadrons	25
	2. Nuclear Modification Factors and Baryon/Meson Ratios	27
	3. Jet Correlations and The <i>Ridge</i>	29
	UnTriggered Correlations	29
	Triggered Correlations	31
	D. Particle Production Studies	33
	1. Identified Particle Yields, Spectra and Statistical Model Fits	33
	2. Strange Particle Yields	33
	3. Mechanisms of particle production at forward rapidity	35
	4. Light Nuclei Production	35
	5. (Anti-)Hypernuclei	38
	E. Local Parity Violation in the Strong Interaction	38
III.	Analysis of Current Test Runs - Au+Au at $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 9.2$ and 19.6 GeV	40
IV.	The p+p baseline	42
	A. Energies below top SPS	43
	B. SPS, FNAL and ISR energies	43
	C. RHIC 62.4 GeV	46
	D. Energy dependence of high- p_T cross sections	46
V.	The STAR detector	46
	A. STAR's Subsystems	47
	1. Trigger Detectors	48
	2. Time Projection Chamber	49
	3. Time of Flight	50
	4. Forward Time Projection Chamber	50
	5. Photon Multiplicity Detector	50
	B. Particle Identification	50
	C. Event Plane Resolution	50
	D. Acceptance, Efficiency, and Particle Production Rates	52
	2. 11000ptallos, Entotolog, and Factorol Fordotoli (attoto).	52
VI.	Summary and the Run Plan	53
	Acknowledgements	55

References

I. INTRODUCTION

RHIC has uncovered an exciting new state of matter, which has partonic degrees of freedom, at $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} \sim 62$ to 200 GeV, the strongly coupled Quark Gluon Plasma (sQGP),. The RHIC-wide consensus on the status of this discovery as of a few years ago is documented in the various white-papers from the RHIC experiments [1–4]. In spite of impressive progress since 2001, as noted in the white-papers several of the most important questions that motivated the construction of RHIC are not yet fully answered, and maybe it is not a coincidence that the available RHIC parameter space has not yet been fully explored.

The QCD phase diagram lies at the heart of what the RHIC Physics Program is all about [5, 6]. While RHIC has been operating very successfully at or close to its maximum energy for almost a decade, it has become clear that this collider can also be operated at lower energies down to $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 5$ GeV without extensive upgrades. From this purely empirical perspective, an exploration of the full region of $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$ available at the RHIC facility is surely imperative. The STAR detector, due to its large uniform acceptance and excellent particle identification capabilities, is uniquely positioned to carry out this program in depth and detail. The first exploratory beam energy scan (BES) run at RHIC took place in 2010 (Run 10), since several STAR upgrades, most importantly a full barrel Time of Flight detector, are now completed which add new capabilities important for the interesting physics at BES energies. Our results at top energies suggest that a new form of matter, the sQGP, is created and that it is locally equilibrated early-on because of its observed hydrodynamic expansion patterns. Also, hadrochemical species equilibrium is observed just after hadronization. It appears that the transition to this state, at these high temperatures and low μ_B , is a crossover [7], i.e. a smooth, continuous transition from a QGP to hadrons. Theoretical model calculations predict that at lower temperatures and high baryon chemical potentials this cross-over will become a first order phase transition [8–16] resulting in a critical point occurring at intermediate temperatures and baryon chemical potentials [5].

The data taken via a RHIC BES will be used to explore several of the open questions in the field heavy-ion physics. Among the questions are:

- 1. Can we see evidence of a Critical Point (CP)?
- 2. Can we see evidence of a phase transition?
- 3. What is the evolution with $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$ of the medium that we produce? i.e. how do the results that indicate the presence of the sQGP turn off as $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$ is reduced?

At the forefront of this list is the search for evidence of a CP and/or its associated first order phase transition in the phase diagram of nuclear matter, Fig 1. Of course, for any discussion about a phase diagram to be valid, we also have to conclusively answer another of the above questions: whether collisions at RHIC form a thermodynamic state? While recent progress in lattice QCD and model calculations is indeed impressive, the location of phase boundaries between hadronic gas and the sQGP and the exact position, in T and μ_B , of the hypothesized critical point remain unknown [17–19]. It therefore falls upon the experiments to find observational evidence of its existence. However, the available theoretical estimates indicate that the critical point might be in the region of the phase diagram probed by heavy ion experiments (see for example [20–23]), and in particular within the collision energy range probable at RHIC. The proposed Beam Energy Scan (BES) from $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 5-200$ GeV at RHIC is motivated to a considerable extent by this exciting possibility of uncovering evidence of a critical point and/or its associated first order phase transition line. [248]

Theory has predicted several signatures of a first order phase transition and for the CP (see for example [24–30] and references therein). Most of these result in increased fluctuations when the freeze-out trajectory passes through the CP or strong variations as a function of $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$ if the collision energies sampled encompass the range in μ_B where the CP occurs [24, 31]. However, the magnitude of these oscillations and the probability of their survival through the final re-scatterings in the hadronic state have yet to be rigorously calculated. There is also the question of hard and semi-hard processes obscuring the signals of the CP. Some hydrodynamical calculations suggest that the CP acts as an attractor [32]. This means that as long as the thermalized medium produced has initial conditions close to the CP, as it evolves with time its trajectory through the T, μ_B phase space will be focussed towards the CP. Such a focussing effect has already been discussed in the context of liquid-gas nuclear transitions [33]. This attraction means that the impact due to the inability of the theoretical calculations to pin-point the CP's exact location is minimized, at least experimentally, as we only "have to get close" to the correct collision energy to "land" at the CP. A finite extension of the critical domain in the μ_B , T diagram implies that there are unlikely to be any sharp discontinuities.



FIG. 1: A schematic of the phase diagram of nuclear matter. The location of the CP is placed within the RHIC BES range. Lattice QCD estimates [17–19] indicate that the CP falls within the interval $250 < \mu_B < 450$ MeV. The black closed circles are current heavy-ion experimental calculations of the chemical freeze-out temperature, T_{ch}, and μ_B based on statistical model fits to the measured particle ratios. The yellow curves show the estimated trajectories of the possible collision energies at RHIC.

The size of the correlation lengths, and thus fluctuations, are also restricted, due to the finite system size effects, to $\lesssim 6$ fm. A phenomenon known as "critical slowing down" is predicted to cause the correlation lengths to be at most 2 fm [34, 35]. Despite these problems in precise predictions it is imperative that RHIC lead the way in attempting to find the CP.

Establishing the validity of the CP prediction, or even bounding the region where it is sited by proving the existence of both a cross-over *AND* a first/second order transition, would place RHIC results into text books. Such a result would be as seminal as proving the formation of the sQGP.

In the following sections we describe:

- 1. Current proposed measurements, with estimations of the accuracy of the measurements given an assumed event count at each $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$. These measurements include novel extensions to those already made at the SPS. These are only possible due to the improved coverage, particle identification (PID) and proposed improved statistics over the previous experiments.
- 2. The preliminary results from analysis of the data from the RHIC low energy test runs.
- 3. The available data to use as the p+p baselines.
- 4. The STAR detector including newly available upgrades pertinent for the energy scan. This section includes detailed discussion of our particle identification abilities, and our particle acceptance and reconstruction efficiencies as a function of multiplicity and p_T .
- 5. A summary including our proposed running plan

We conclude with a run plan for data taking that would allow us to accomplish all our initial goals, including those mentioned above which are not directly related to the CP search. Should evidence of the CP, first order phase transition, or other unexpected results be observed we would then propose further dedicated running at, and bracketing, the relevant collision energies.

II. PROPOSED PHYSICS MEASUREMENTS

The physics to be extracted from the BES have been split into five subsections. First we focus on those measurements that seem most likely to provide evidence of the Critical Point. These are predominantly fluctuation measures. The second subsection covers analyses designed to instead provide evidence for a first order phase transition. The signatures of the sQGP are covered in sub-section three followed by a sub-section on particle production studies designed, in the main, to probe if the medium produced in these collisions is indeed in thermal equilibrium. In the fifth and final subsection the study of a potentially sensitive measure of local strong parity violation is presented.

When discussing performing an energy scan at RHIC the question often arises: why embark on such a scan when data has already been taken at the SPS? This section explains how the scan at RHIC will improve on the data taken at CERN. Firstly such a program will enable measurements to be made from the SPS energy region on up to the top RHIC energies with the same detector. Secondly, since this is a collider experiment the same uniform acceptance will occur at each energy point. Finally, not only will the statistics be better due to the higher acceptance of the STAR detector, but also, there will be cleaner, and more extensive PID capabilities. This allows us to not only repeat those measurements performed at the SPS in much finer detail but also to enhance the studies by performing numerous differential measures. It is most likely only by looking differentially that the signals produced by passing close to the CP will be extracted. When one is forced to integrate measures, due, for instance to small statistics or limited acceptance, much information is lost.

Many of the potential signals proposed to be resulting from the CP and/or a first order phase transition revolve around fluctuation measures. Discussed below are the measures we currently propose. Of course there is still the possibility of performing other studies that emerge from more details discussions and continued development of the theory.

A. Locating the Critical Point

1. Fluctuation Measures

The characteristic signature of the existence of a CP is an increase of fluctuations [36]. For instance, Lattice QCD calculations [37] indicate large fluctuations in the derivatives of the partition functions with respect to baryon, charge, and strangeness chemical potentials as a function of the temperature of the system. Of particular interest are the moments of the charge/baryon number/strangeness fluctuations which are obtained theoretically from the second (quadratic) and fourth (quartic) derivatives of the logarithm of the QCD partition function (χ_2 and χ_4 respectively), Fig. 2 and Fig. 3. These fluctuations can be related to event-by-event moments of various observables in heavy-ion collisions. Fig. 2 and Fig. 3 are calculated for $\mu_B = 0$, such fluctuations are expected to diverge at the Critical Point.



10.0 ^رک 8.0 6.0 open: N_τ=4 full: $N_{\tau}=6$ 4.0 2.0 SB T [MeV] 0.0 150 200 250 300 350 400 450

FIG. 2: Quadratic fluctuations of baryon number, electric charge and strangeness. All quantities have been normalized to the corresponding free quark gas values and are for $\mu_B=0$ and T_C=200 MeV [37].

FIG. 3: Quartic fluctuations of baryon number, electric charge and strangeness. All quantities have been normalized to the corresponding free quark gas values and are for $\mu_B=0$ and $T_C=200$ MeV [37].

Measures of particular interest in STAR are fluctuations in the $\langle p_T \rangle$, the K/ π , p/ π , and K/p ratios, and v₂. Also of

$\langle p_T \rangle$ Fluctuations

 $\langle p_T \rangle$ fluctuations are challenging as there are a number of effects that can swamp the signal. For instance elliptic flow can cause a non-statistical fluctuation of the $\langle p_T \rangle$ if the experiment does not have 2π acceptance. Since the plane of the collision varies event to event if the acceptance is limited one is forced to measure at a random angle to the event plane each event. The $\langle p_T \rangle$ in the plane is expected larger than the $\langle p_T \rangle$ out of the plane, therefore while the p_T fluctuations in and out of the plane are independently small the average of a random angle creates an artificially large apparent fluctuation. This is illustrated in Fig. 4, and shows that for mid-peripheral collisions fluctuations become very significant for Au-Au collisions at $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 200$ GeV.



FIG. 4: The $\langle p_T \rangle$ fluctuations as a function of N_{part} due to the presence of elliptic flow. The data are from Au+Au collisions at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 200$ GeV. From [38].



FIG. 5: The measured event-by-event $\langle p_T \rangle$ for data (red solid circles), and from event mixing (blue open circles) the fit to the data is shown as the red dashed curve, while that for the mixed events is the blue solid curve. The data is from $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 200 \text{ GeV Au} + \text{Au}$ collisions. From [39].

The $\langle p_T \rangle$ is measured for all events and also estimated for mixed events. The results are compared and any difference between the data and mixed events is an indication of non-statistical fluctuations, Fig. 5. Current results show significant non-statistical fluctuations, as measured via the covariance of the two particle transverse momentum correlation measure $\langle \Delta p_{T,i} \Delta p_{T,j} \rangle$ at all energies, Fig. 6 [39]. They increase with $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$ and are larger than those predicted by HIJING (open symbols in Fig. 6). The data of Fig. 6 show an initial rapid rise as a function of centrality before plateauing around N_{part} ~ 150, with a common turning point for all measured energies. Again HIJING fails to reproduce this trend being essentially centrality independent. If one scales the fluctuations by the $\langle p_T \rangle$ a different picture emerges, Fig. 7. The energy dependence is removed and the result is now inversely proportional to the centrality. HIJING now reproduces the centrality trend but still underestimates the magnitude. The CERES data confirm the energy independence of this measure as shown for the most central data in the inset of Fig. 7 [39].

Fig. 8 shows the RMS of the p_T fluctuations as a function of $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$. The RMS grows smoothly with increasing $\log(\sqrt{s_{NN}})$ [40]. However, there is a relatively large gap in the measurements between 20 and 60 GeV and this region ought to be covered before it is claimed that there are no anomalies in this measure.

An alternative measure of p_T fluctuations is $\Phi(p_T)$ [42]. The difference between event-by-event fluctuations of the data and those from mixed events is quantified by $\Phi(p_T)$. If the system created in the collisions does not have inter-particle momentum correlations and thus all particles are emitted independently $\Phi(p_T)$ will be zero. If instead A+A collisions are an incoherent superposition of N+N events $\Phi(p_T)$ will be non-zero but a constant for all centralities in Au+Au and for p+p. For the most central data, once event-by-event impact parameter fluctuations have been removed NA49 observe no collision energy dependence of $\Phi(p_T)$ and its magnitude is consistent with zero [43]. However, they observe a significant non-monotonic evolution of $\Phi(p_T)$ as a function of centrality for highest SPS collision energies ($\sqrt{s_{NN}}$



FIG. 6: $\langle p_T \rangle$ fluctuations as a function of N_{part} for Au+Au collisions at various $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$. Also shown as the open symbols are the predictions from HIJING at the same energies [39].



FIG. 8: The RMS of the $\langle p_T \rangle$ fluctuations as a function of $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$. The SSC corrected data have been corrected for small-scale correlations such as HBT and Coulomb effects. The curve is proportional to $\ln[\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}/10]$. From [40].



FIG. 7: Scaled $\langle p_T \rangle$ fluctuations as a function of N_{part}. Also shown as the open symbols are the predictions from HIJING at the same energies. The inset shows a comparison of the STAR data to CERES as a function of $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$ for the most central events. [39].



FIG. 9: The measured Φ_{p_T} from NA49 at $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$ =17.3GeV as a function of the mean number of wounded nucleons $\langle N_W \rangle$. Corrections for limited two track resolution have been applied. Errors are statistical only. Systematic errors are < 1.6 MeV/c. From [41].

=17.3 GeV), Fig. 9 [41], this result has been confirmed by CERES [44]. Further more detailed studies are needed to confirm these results and their potential implications. These will be undertaken by STAR via the BES.

K/π Fluctuations

Current STAR results for K/π fluctuations from Au+Au collisions at $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 19.6, 62.4, 130, and 200 GeV$ are shown in Fig. 10 along with results observed by NA49 at the SPS in central Pb+Pb collisions at $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 6.3, 7.6, 8.8, 12.3$ and 17.3 GeV [45]. The fluctuations are analyzed using $\sigma_{dyn} = sign(\sigma_{data}^2 - \sigma_{mixed}^2)\sqrt{|\sigma_{data}^2 - \sigma_{mixed}^2|}$ where σ_{data} is the relative width (standard deviation divided by the mean) of the K/ π distribution for the data and σ_{mixed} is the relative width of the K/ π distribution for mixed events. Our results for K/π fluctuations in central collisions show little dependence on the incident energies studied and are on the same order as the NA49 measurements at $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 12.3$ and 17.3 GeV.



FIG. 10: Experimental results for $\sigma_{\rm dyn}$ for K/π as a function of $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$ [45, 46]. Also shown are results from the statistical hadronization model of Torrieri [47].



FIG. 11: Comparison of the predictions of the HSD and UrQMD models to the experimental data for $\sigma_{\rm dyn}$ for K/π . Data from [45, 46]

In Fig. 10, we compare the statistical hadronization model results of Torrieri [47] to the experimental data. We see that when the light quark phase space occupancy, γ_q , is one, corresponding to equilibrium, the calculations underestimate the experimental results at all energies. When γ_q is varied to reproduce the excitation function of K^+/π^+ yield ratios and the excitation function of temperature versus chemical equilibrium over the SPS and RHIC energy ranges [47, 48], the statistical hadronization model correctly predicts the dynamical fluctuations at the higher energies but under-predicts the NA49 data at the lower energies, supporting the conclusion that the lower energy fluctuation data are anomalous [45]. In these fits, $\gamma_q > 1$ (chemically over-saturated) for $\sqrt{s_{NN}} < 9$ GeV and $\gamma_q < 1$ (chemically under-saturated) for $\sqrt{s_{NN}} > 9$ GeV.

The changes in susceptibilities as a function of temperature, illustrated in Figs. 2 and 3 for $\mu_B = 0$, are expected to diverge at the critical point. Such an effect might be observable as deviations of fluctuations from a monotonic dependence on incident energy in central collisions. However, changes in the underlying physics can also induce changes in the fluctuations as a function of incident energy. To gain insight into what we might expect from K/π fluctuations as a function of energy, we compare the experimental results to predictions from the HSD model [49] and the UrQMD model [50] in Fig. 11. The NA49 UrQMD results [45] were carried out using UrQMD version 1.3 with an NA49 acceptance filter while the STAR UrQMD results were carried out using UrQMD version 2.3 with a STAR acceptance filter. We can see that UrQMD reproduces the results at RHIC energies, but under-predicts the fluctuations at low incident energies. HSD seems to reproduce well the general shape of the measurements, but is slightly above the data in the $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} \sim 10$ GeV range. The fact that no model completely reproduces the measurements at all $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$, combined with the lack of experimental data in the range of $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 20 - 60$ GeV, means that the question of non-monotonic behavior of K/π fluctuations must be answered with additional measurements.

To make these measurements, one needs to attempt to measure *all* the kaon and pions. The K reconstruction efficiency as a function of p_T is rather low, see section VD and Fig. 77 for more details, due to multiple effects. The first is the decay of the K, the dominant channel being $K^{\pm} \rightarrow \mu^{\pm} + \nu_{\mu}$ with a $c\tau$ of 3.7 m. This means a significant number of the kaons decay before being measured by the TPC. Secondly the cuts required to select clean kaons, essential for the fluctuation measures, reduce the efficiency further. By using the ToF we can extend the clean PID range to higher p_T and thus gain essential coverage. As already mentioned not only coverage but clean PID is needed. Again the ToF is useful because it can eliminate much of the electron contamination at low p_T that dE/dx measures alone cannot remove. The most damaging misidentification is that of a K as a π or vice-versa, since this effect distorts both the numerator and denominator of the measure, i.e. $K/\pi \rightarrow (K+1)/(\pi-1)$ or $(K-1)/(\pi+1)$. Fig. 12 shows a simulation of the raw STAR charge integrated K/π ratio as measured from 100k HIJING simulated central Au+Au collisions at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 8.8$ GeV. The red curve shows the distribution of the K/π ratio ratio without using the ToF significantly improves our ability to study K/π fluctuations. It has been estimated that 1 M events at each of the proposed collision energies for the BES are sufficient to perform these PID fluctuation studies. Figure 13 shows the estimated statistical error for STAR's σ_{dyn} for the charge integrated K/π ratio with and without the ToF information. Also shown for





FIG. 13: Estimate of the error in σ_{dyn} for the charge integrated K/π fluctuations as a function of $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$ with and without the ToF. Shown for comparison are the current measurements from NA49 and STAR. Data from [46].

FIG. 12: The uncorrected reconstructed K/ π ratio for 100 k Au-Au central events at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 8.8$ GeV with and without using the ToF information.

comparison are the current NA49 and STAR measured data points. With the ToF, STAR's relative error is $\pm 5\%$, without the ToF, this doubles to $\pm 10\%$. Although K/π fluctuations have been studied by NA49 and STAR already, there still remains substantial work to fully understand the results. For instance, NA49 only measured the charge integrated K/ π fluctuations in central collisions. STAR, with its larger acceptance and ToF identification reach, will be able to repeat these measures in much greater detail and also measure the charge separated fluctuations. These improvements will allow us to observe event-by-event if there is truly something special happening in the K^+/π^+ ratio as suggested by the integrated measure shown in Fig. 10.

p/π Fluctuations

The study of p/π fluctuations may provide information about baryon fluctuations. p/π fluctuations have been studied as a function of $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$ by NA49 [45] and by STAR as shown in Fig. 14 using the variable σ_{dyn} at the same energies as those used to study K/π fluctuations. The dependence on $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$ of the NA49 results and the STAR results seem to join smoothly. Here the fluctuations are negative, which may indicate that the decay of resonances is important for p/π fluctuations. In Fig. 14 we compare the predictions of UrQMD to the measured fluctuations. The UrQMD calculations were done by NA49 [45] using the NA49 acceptance filter. We can see that the predictions of the model is reasonably close to the experimental results.

Studying charge separated p/π fluctuations will be crucial to understanding the energy dependence for several reasons. One reason is that the \bar{p}/p changes strongly with $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$. Another is that several resonances exist such as $\Lambda \to p + \pi^$ or $\Delta^0 \to \bar{p} + \pi^+$ that can have a significant effect on the observed p/π fluctuations. It has been estimated that 1 M events at each of the proposed collision energies for the BES are sufficient to perform these PID fluctuation studies.

K/p fluctuations

The correlation between strangeness S and baryon number B is sensitive to the state of matter created in heavy-ion collisions [53]. In a system consisting of quarks and gluons, strangeness is carried by s and \bar{s} quarks, which also carry fractional baryon number (B = 1/3 for s and -1/3 for \bar{s} quarks). In a hadron gas, much of the strangeness is carried by kaons for which B = 0 leading to a weaker correlation between strangeness and baryon number, which has been reproduced in the string hadronic model UrQMD [54]. At the transition from hadron gas to quark gluon-plasma, a rapid fluctuation in the baryon-strangeness is expected, and recent lattice QCD studies [37] confirm this prediction. As both baryon number and strangeness are conserved quantities, the effect is conveyed to the final state and can be observed via the fluctuations in the event-wise kaon to proton ratio. The feasibility of measuring K/p fluctuations,



FIG. 14: Comparison of the predictions of the UrQMD model to the experimental data for $\sigma_{\rm dyn}$ for p/π [45].



FIG. 15: Preliminary experimental results for σ_{dyn} for K/p (p/K) as a function of $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$ from NA49 and STAR [51, 52].

characterized by σ_{dyn} , have recently been shown by STAR and NA49, the preliminary results are reproduced in Fig. 15 [51, 52]. The same mixing procedure has been used in both of these analyses. There appears to be only a slight increase in the dynamical fluctuations at RHIC compared to the top SPS energies. An interesting point to note is that σ_{dyn} for p/K and for K/p are not exactly the same. The low multiplicity of p and K in each event, and that σ_{dyn} itself is small, may account for much of the observed differences. More data are needed to shed light on the RHIC results. The ToF upgrade will facilitate this important measurement in the beam energy scan. It has been estimated that 1 M events at each of the proposed collision energies for the BES are sufficient to perform these PID fluctuation studies.

Net proton Kurtosis

To date most experimental fluctuation measures have concentrated on the second moments (proportional to the square of the correlation length). However, estimates of the magnitude of correlation length in heavy-ion collisions indicate that they could be small around the critical point (of the order of 2-3 fm) [55], making it challenging to be detected in experiments.

Higher moments of event-by-event pion and proton multiplicities might be significantly more sensitive to the existence of the critical point than measures based on second moments. The fourth moment, the kurtosis, of these multiplicity distributions is expected to be proportional to the seventh power of the correlation length [55]. In addition, it is expected that the evolution of fluctuations from the critical point to the freeze-out point may lead to a non-Gaussian shape in the event-by-event multiplicity distributions. The kurtosis of multiplicity distributions might then provide a more sensitive observable for the search of the QCD critical point.

Further in Lattice calculations, which assume the system to be in thermal equilibrium, the kurtosis of event-by-event net-baryon number, net charge and net strangeness are related to the respective susceptibilities. These susceptibilities show large values or diverge at the critical temperature [19, 36, 37, 55], Fig. 16. The measurement of higher moments of event-by-event identified particle multiplicity distributions and its variation with centrality and beam energy will provide the first direct connection between experimental observables and Lattice Gauge Theory calculations [37].

Using STAR's excellent mid-rapidity PID capabilities, (anti) protons for $p_T = 0.2$ -1.0 GeV/c can be cleanly identified using dE/dx in the TPC. We can therefore carry out a proton kurtosis analysis [56]. It is advisable to do this analysis over as large a p_T range as possible to preserve the long-range correlations that the kurtosis is most sensitive to probe. Therefore the sensitivity of these measurements is greatly increased with the inclusion of the ToF, and measurements related to isospin susceptibilities and strangeness susceptibilities will be also possible.

The UrQMD model [50, 57] can serve as a baseline of hadronic processes involved in heavy-ion collisions. To estimate the minimum statistics required to carry out kurtosis analysis in the RHIC beam energy scan, simulations have been



FIG. 16: The ratio of fourth and second order cumulants of baryon number as a function of temperature [37]. The value from the hadron gas model (HRG) is for the temperature range 100 to 200 MeV.



FIG. 17: The net-proton kurtosis from the UrQMD model, evaluated in the STAR acceptance for 100 k events.

performed in the latest UrQMD version 2.3 [58, 59]. Figure 17 shows the net-proton kurtosis evaluated within STARs central barrel acceptance (|y| < 0.5) for central Au+Au collisions in the energy range $5 < \sqrt{s_{NN}} < 200$ GeV. The analysis shows that a measurement of the net proton kurtosis can be made with a statistical error of 0.75 when 100 k events are used. Extrapolating these results, we estimate that 4 M events are needed at each beam energy to obtain a statistically precise measurement of better than 10%.

Azimuthal Correlations and v₂ Fluctuations

 v_2 fluctuations σ_{v_2} have been studied by STAR [60] and PHOBOS [61] as a method to test models of the initial conditions in heavy-ion collisions and to infer the effectiveness of the conversion of eccentricity to momentum-space anisotropy on an event-by-event basis. After further investigation, it has been found that it is not experimentally possible to determine σ_{v_2} independent of non-flow correlations (δ) (see for instance [62] and references therein for more discussions). The sum of non-flow and elliptic flow correlations (σ_{tot}^2) in the form $\delta + 2\sigma_{v_2}^2$ can be measured via the non-statistical width of the flow vector distribution which is related to the difference between the two- and four-particle cumulants: $\sigma_{tot}^2 \approx \delta + 2\sigma_{v_2}^2 \approx v_2 \{2\}^2 - v_2 \{4\}^2$. Non-flow due to HBT and resonances can be nearly eliminated by selecting like charge particles and by using rapidity gaps (particles are required to be well separated in rapidity). Those correlations due to jet production should fall off with energy. The energy dependence of $\sigma_{tot}^2 \approx \delta + 2\sigma_{v_2}^2$ should therefore be of considerable interest in an energy scan as it should be increasingly dominated by $\sigma_{v_2}^2$ as the beam energy is reduced and can be expected to rise if matter is created near the QCD critical point.

Figure 18 shows preliminary STAR results for σ_{tot}^2 based on 15 million Au+Au collisions at 200 GeV [60]. The errors are dominated by systematic uncertainties. Measurements can be carried out using several hundred thousand minimum-bias events. This estimate is supported by the analysis of the two- and four-particle cumulants carried out on the 130 GeV data based on several hundred thousand events. These measurements will therefore be possible at all $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$ values of the proposed BES, with likely exception of 5 or 6 GeV.

Photon Multiplicity Fluctuations

In a thermodynamical picture of the system formed in the collision, the fluctuations in particle multiplicities can be related to the matter compressibility [63], which could aid our understanding of the critical fluctuations at the QCD phase boundary. Through event-by-event photon multiplicity measurements using the Photon Multiplicity Detector (PMD) at forward rapidities, we can access, at the same beam energy, multiplicity fluctuations at a higher baryon chemical potential compared to those measured at mid-rapidity via charged particles in the TPC. The excellent spatial resolution of the PMD allows one to study these fluctuations in localized regions of phase space. Due to the uncertainty in the location of the critical point we need to investigate as much of the QCD phase diagram as possible. Given the experimental limitations on the number of beam energy points that can be scanned, the ability to study fluctuations across a wide range in rapidity enhances the sensitivity of our search.

The Fig. 19 shows the relative fluctuation in photon multiplicity ($\omega_{\gamma} = \sigma^2$ /mean) as a function of number of participating nucleons. The results are at a center of mass energy of 17.3 GeV in Pb+Pb collisions within a pseudorapidity coverage of 2.9-4.2 measured using the PMD in WA98 experiment [64].



FIG. 18: Lower bound estimates of the v₂ fluctuations as a function of centrality for $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 200$ GeV Au+Au collisions. From [60].



FIG. 19: The relative fluctuations (ω_{γ}) of photons as a function of number of participants. The data show the fluctuations in photon- like clusters and photons after correction for efficiency and purity. These are compared to calculations from a participant model and those from VENUS event generator [64].

2. Forward-Backward Correlations

Long-range multiplicity correlations have been measured to provide insight on the mechanisms of particle production. Many experiments show strong short-range correlations (SRC) over a region of ± 1 unit in rapidity [65–68] Correlations that extend over a longer range are observed in hadron-hadron interactions at higher energies [66, 68]. It has been suggested that long-range correlations (LRC) might be enhanced in hadron-nucleus and nucleus-nucleus interactions due to multiple parton collisions [69, 70].

The Forward-Backward (FB) correlation strength for multiplicity-multiplicity correlations is defined by the dependence of the average charged particle multiplicity in the backward hemisphere, $\langle N_b \rangle$, on the event multiplicity in the forward hemisphere, $\langle N_f \rangle$, such that $\langle N_b \rangle = a + \langle N_f \rangle$, where a is a constant and the correlation strength is

$$b = \frac{\langle N_f N_b \rangle - \langle N_f \rangle \langle N_b \rangle}{\langle N_f^2 \rangle - \langle N_f \rangle^2}$$

For STAR, the forward-backward intervals are located symmetrically about midrapidity ($\eta = 0$).

Previous studies of FB multiplicity correlations indicate that both short and long range correlations are present in Au+Au collisions at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 200$ GeV, while only short range correlations are present in the more peripheral collisions [71–73]. Measurements for 200 GeV Au+Au collisions are shown in Fig. 20 along with measurements in p+p for reference [74]. From the large value of the correlation strength at large $\Delta \eta$, one can infer that a dense partonic system is created with multi-parton interactions that lead to long-range correlations in heavy-ion collisions.



FIG. 20: FB correlation strength as a function of $\Delta \eta$ (a) for Au+Au at the 0-10% most central events, (b) more peripheral Au+Au collisions and c) p+p collisions at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 200$ GeV. Figure from [74].

An important extension of this work will be to examine Au+Au collisions as a function of collision energy, particularly in the 5-39 GeV range. By studying the energy dependence of the FB correlation strength, we will 1) be able to test models that have been proposed to describe our data (e.g. Parton String Model [75], Color Glass Condensate [76], HIJING [77]) and 2) search for non-monotonic trends in shape and magnitude of the FB correlations that might signal fluctuations due to a critical-point or a first order phase transition at freeze-out. These studies can be carried out with approximately 1 million events at each collision energy.

3. The Focussing Effect of the QCD Critical Point

Asakawa *et al.* [32] proposed that a critical point would act as an attractor of nearby system expansion trajectories in the (μ_B, T) plane. Fig. 21 illustrates the situation for three system expansion trajectories which originate from slightly spaced initial conditions. By considering the different options of a simple crossover transition, a first order phase transition, and a similar transition as displaced by an assumed attraction of the trajectory by an adjacent critical point, the authors demonstrate that different initial system trajectories may end up in the same hadro-chemical freezeout point.

Different initial system trajectories imply different "starting conditions", as governed solely by the the collisional center of mass energy. One expects that such starting points are determined by the primordial conditions, prevailing during the early equilibration phase, just after the end of target-projectile interpenetration. They are thus initially insensitive to the particular conditions, encountered later, in the vicinity of the parton-hadron phase transformation line. The system expansion trajectories, labelled by their initial entropy to baryon number ratios (as specified in hydrodynamic models underlying such considerations), should therefore be shifted smoothly toward lower baryochemical potential, with increasing collisional energy.



FIG. 21: The QCD phase diagram showing hydrodynamical trajectories with and without a CP. The Solid line - Crossover transition, dash-dotted - first-order transition. dashed line with CP. From [32].

The proposed study rests on the following assumption: if no special singularities arise along the parton-hadron coexistence line (such as a critical point, and/or associated transition from crossover to a first order nature of the phase transformation) the smooth spacing with energy of the initial system expansion trajectories should in turn lead to a similar smooth spacing of the hadronic chemical freeze-out points. These points in the (μ_B ,T) plane are obtained from the statistical, grand canonical hadronization model [78–82] which analyzes the observed sets of hadronic production ratios, at various energies. This analysis derives, for each energy, a "hadrochemical freeze-out point" in the (μ_B ,T) plane. These points are shown in Fig. 1. The expanding system must to go through these points at hadronization. Thus these points, in their succession with incident energy, mark an entry concerning the position of the respective expansion trajectory in this plane. If trajectory re-focusing occurs, owing to the attractor mechanism proposed as a consequence of a critical point, the smooth dependence of the freeze-out points on initial collisional energy should be re-shuffled.

What is required for a search concerning this fascinating conjectured mechanism is a systematic precision measurement of the hadron production yields (including the hyperons and anti-hyperons) at each incident energy. At the relevant low energies of the intended energy scan, the previous data from the SPS low energy runs do not offer adequate event statistics. The resulting, apparently smooth succession of freeze-out points, as illustrated in Fig. 1, need to be revisited by high statistics STAR runs at these energies.

B. Locating a 1st Order Transition and/or Changing the Equation of State

1. Elliptic Flow

Elliptic flow (v₂) measurements have been performed over three orders of magnitude in $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$. The most plentiful systematics are available for unidentified particles. Figure 22 shows the least detailed measure of anisotropy $-p_T$ -and particle-type-integrated v₂- over a broad range of energies [83]. The strong non-monotonic behavior observed in the excitation function reflects an evolution in the driving physics. At the lowest energies, the colliding nuclei orbit each other and may fuse to form a rotating compound nucleus which evaporates particles in-plane (v₂ >0) due to angular momentum considerations. As the beam energy increases, the crossing timescale becomes much shorter than the thermalization time, and the passing beam nucleons are too fast to be captured by the target nucleus' mean field; at this point, the system is appropriately described in the language of participants and spectators. At beam energies ~ 200 AMeV, the passing spectators absorb particles emitted by the participant zone in the reaction plane, leading to out-of-plane "squeeze-out" [84], and v₂ >0. As the energy is increased to top AGS energy (Ebeam ~10 AGeV)

17

and beyond, Lorentz contraction effects and decreasing crossing timescales gradually render the spectators irrelevant. It is at these energies, $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} > 5$ GeV, that the emission anisotropy reflects that from a hot, compressed anisotropic zone, and hydrodynamic expansion is assumed to be the physics driving the evolution.



FIG. 22: The charged particle v_2 as a function of beam energy.



FIG. 23: The charged particle v_2/ϵ as a function of the charged particle mid-rapidity density. From [84].

Above AGS energies any energy dependence is expected to be driven not by changing physics mechanisms, but by characteristics – equation of state, viscosity, the number of degrees of freedom etc– of the system determining the hydrodynamic evolution. Such effects will be more subtle than the obvious structures in Fig. 22 described above. Hence, we will need more detail than integrated v_2 values. First, if instead of plotting against $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$ one calculates v_2/ϵ (where ϵ is the initial- state eccentricity) and plots this quantity versus the measured charged particle density per unit overlap area, S, one sees that all the data from different energies collapse onto a common curve, Fig. 23 [84]. Also one can see that it is only at the largest particle densities, corresponding to central collisions at maximum RHIC energies, that the data reach the hydrodynamical limit for elliptic flow. This immediately provokes the question about the validity of using hydrodynamical calculations for lower collision energies. In light of this and other results much

work has been done recently to implement viscous hydrodynamical theories.

The bulk nature of the hypothesized sQGP phase is revealed in strong *elliptic* flow, which in central collisions approaches the predictions of ideal hydrodynamics, assuming system thermalization on an extremely short timescale ($\sim 0.5 \text{ fm/c}$) [85, 86]. However, the mechanism behind such rapid thermalization remains far from clear and is under active theoretical study [87, 88]. This has a connection to another novel phenomenon that could be relevant at RHIC — saturation of the gluon distribution, often referred to as the Color Glass Condensate or CGC— which characterizes the nuclear parton distribution prior to collision [89]. Various theoretical approaches to connect collision geometry, saturated gluon distributions, and the onset of bulk collective behavior are being explored [85, 86, 90]; more experimental input is needed to guide these efforts.

If one performs more differential analyses and looks at $v_2(p_T)$ as a function of $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$ the results shown in Fig. 24 emerge. For a fixed centrality the v_2 at fixed p_T values first grows with $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$ but then reaches a plateau. This leveling-off at similar $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$ for differing transverse momenta might present evidence of a softening of the equation of state due to a phase transition. It will be extremely enlightening to see if this feature is preserved for differing centralities and using identified particle results. Moreover, the energy where the leveling-off begins lies in the unexplored region of the RHIC BES, and ought to be determined with more precision. Table I shows the number of events estimated to be needed in order to measure the inclusive particle v_2 up to $p_T \sim 1.5 \text{ GeV/c}$.

TABLE I: Estimate of events needed to measure the inclusive particle v_2 up to $p_T \sim 1.5$ GeV/c.

$\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$ (GeV)	5	7.7	11.5	17.3	27	39
Number of Events v_2	$0.3~{\rm M}$	$0.2 {\rm M}$	0.1 M	0.1	$0.1 {\rm M}$	$0.1 {\rm M}$



FIG. 24: The charged particle v_2 as a function of $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$ for two different p_T values. From [83].



FIG. 25: Proton v₂ as a function of rapidity at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 8.77$ GeV from Pb-Pb collisions for centrality bin b=3.4-5.3 fm. From [91].

A potential direct signature of a phase transition is the "collapse" of the proton v_2 [25, 92, 93]. NA49 first reported observation of such a result for $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 8.77$ GeV. However, when they repeated this measurement using other techniques to extract v_2 the results differ, Fig. 25 [91]. The results presented in Fig. 25 are from the "standard" v_2 method (blue circles), cumulants for two-particle correlations, $v_2\{2\}$, (green squares) and cumulants for four-particle correlations, $v_2\{4\}$, (red triangles). The differences between these results are beyond the statistical error bars, however, the techniques used are known to have different sensitivities to non-flow effects, such as decays (see [91] and references within for more details). It is currently unclear if these differences are due to non-flow effects or physical fluctuations of the v_2 that come in with differing weights to these different techniques, or represent an indication of the systematics of the measure. With the BES we can perform these measurements with higher statistics and better systematics. Also, recent advances in experimental techniques have developed methods to determine the scale of the v_2 fluctuations. It is therefore essential that we recalculate the v_2 and perform the fluctuation measurements with the same apparatus to try and disentangle all these effects. The feasibility of such a measurement is shown in Section III where statistically relevant identified v_2 measurements have been made with only ~ 3 k events.

The first evidence of photon azimuthal anisotropy at SPS energies was observed in the distribution of photons from S+Au collisions at SPS energies measured in the pre-shower photon multiplicity detector of the WA93 experiment at CERN [94]. Subsequent measurements of both directed and elliptic flow of photons were performed in the WA98 experiment at SPS, these are shown in Fig. 26 [95]. The preliminary measurements at RHIC using the PMD were reported in Ref. [96]. These photon measurements will complement the charged particle measurements at mid-rapidity.



FIG. 26: Directed and elliptic photon anisotropy coefficients in the pseudorapidity region 3.25-3.75 for different centralities as measured in PMD for WA98 experiment at SPS energies [95]. For more details see [95].

FIG. 27: Directed flow of protons from ideal hydrodynamics with a QGP phase (open symbols) and from the Quark Gluon String Model without QGP phase (full symbols) [97]. Figure from [98].

2. Directed Flow

Directed flow is obtained from the first harmonic (v₁) in the Fourier expansion of the azimuthal anisotropy of emitted particles with respect to the collision reaction plane, Ψ_r , [99].

$$E\frac{d^{3}N}{dp^{3}} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{d^{2}N}{p_{T}dp_{T}dy} (1 + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} 2v_{n} \cos[n(\phi - \Psi_{r})])$$

It describes collective sideward motion of the produced particles and nuclear fragments and, even more so than elliptic flow, carries information on the very earliest stage of the collision. Specifically, at large η (in the fragmentation region), directed flow is believed to be generated during the nuclear passage time $(2R/\gamma \sim 0.1 \text{ fm/c})$ [100, 101]. It therefore probes the onset of bulk collective dynamics during thermalization, providing valuable experimental guidance to models of the pre-equilibrium stage.

The shape of v_1 vs. rapidity is of special interest because it has been identified in several theoretical papers as a promising Quark-Gluon Plasma signature [97, 98, 102]. At low relativistic energies, $v_1(y)$ is almost directly proportional to rapidity, and relative to protons, the pion $v_1(y)$ is significantly smaller in magnitude and opposite in sign. The sign of v_1 is conventionally defined as positive by the direction of nucleon flow in the projectile fragmentation

region. Often, just the slope of $v_1(y)$ at mid-rapidity has been used to define the strength of directed flow. At RHIC energies, directed flow is predicted to be small near mid-rapidity with very weak dependence on pseudorapidity. Calculations involving a QGP phase suggest that $v_1(y)$ may exhibit a characteristic "wiggle" [97, 98, 102–104], whereby directed flow changes sign three times, not counting a possible sign change near beam rapidities (in contrast to the observed sideward deflection pattern at lower energy, where the sign changes only at mid-rapidity), see Fig. 27, if a QGP phase transition is assumed. In these calculations, the wiggle structure is interpreted as a consequence of the expansion of the system, which is initially tilted with respect to the beam direction. The expansion leads to the so-called anti-flow or third flow component. Such a flow can reverse, over a region on either side of mid-rapidity, the normal pattern of sideward deflection as seen at lower energy, and hence can result in either a flatness of v_1 , or a wiggle structure if the expansion is strong enough. However, a similar wiggle structure in proton v_1 is also predicted if one assumes strong but incomplete baryon stopping together with strong space-momentum correlations caused by transverse radial expansion [103, 104]. The situation for pion directed flow is less clear in such models. While RQMD model calculations indicate that shadowing by protons causes the pions to flow mostly with opposite sign to the protons, mirroring the proton wiggle, other calculations predict that pions flow with opposite sign only in a limited rapidity range.

It is not until we move down into the collision energy domain of the proposed BES that the acceptance in pseudorapidity of STAR's Forward TPCs comes close enough to the rapidity region of the incoming nuclei to fully map-out all the changes in sign of v_1 , and therefore, a more thorough understanding of the wiggle phenomenon will then be possible. Figure 28 shows the measured directed flow for Au+Au collisions at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 9.2$, 62.4 and 200 GeV for unidentified charged hadrons, and for identified pions in 0-60% centrality Pb+Pb collisions at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 8.8$ GeV [91]. For the 62.4 and 200 GeV the data is from 30-60% central data, due to a lack of statistics the 9.2 GeV covers 0-60%. This v_1 study at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 9.2$ GeV, based on just a few hours of sporadic collisions during a machine development test in March 2008 has already corroborated the promising nature of this line of investigation. The predicted sign change near beam rapidities is clearly evident for the lower energy data but there are insufficient statistics currently to attempt to identify any possible "wiggles" at mid-rapidity.

Based on experimental analyses to date, and on simulations of the performance of the STAR TOF system, a relatively modest event sample (0.5 M)— many times smaller than the few million minimum-bias events needed when using elliptic flow of abundant baryons and mesons to study constituent quark scaling — will be sufficient to unambiguously resolve the pending questions about the "wiggle" phenomenon, discussed above.

Important insights into the evolution of the system also can be obtained from flow of identified particles. At low $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$ most of the protons are transported to mid-rapidity by baryon stopping while pions are created from the collisions, and the difference of their flow pattern will shed light on the evolution of the system. In particular, if the v_1 of protons and pions would have the same sign near mid-rapidity, then that would be a signature for a tilted source and would be consistent with one-fluid hydrodynamic models incorporating a first-order phase transition. It has been argued by Stöcker that the so-called "collapse of proton flow" reported at CERN may be evidence for such a transition [98]. All of the above considerations stimulate much interest in directed flow over the proposed range of the BES.

A separate but equally curious sign-change phenomenon occurs for charged-particle $v_1(p_T)$ in the vicinity of $p_T \sim 1$ GeV/c near mid-rapidity at higher RHIC energies (i.e. it is observed in the main TPC of STAR but not in the FTPCs). If we assume that v_1 for pions and protons has opposite sign, then the steeply increasing relative abundance of protons above 1 GeV/c has the potential to explain the change of sign, but more data are needed over a wider range of beam energies to determine if this phenomenon is properly understood.

3. Identified Particle p_T Spectra

Changes in shape of the particle p_T spectra as a function of $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$ and centrality can be studied to reveal changes in the kinetic freeze-out temperature of the hadrons from the medium and their mean transverse velocity. Typically a Blast-Wave function is used to extract these variables from fits to the p_T spectra [106]. The fits are usually restricted to $p_T < 2$ GeV/c so that the bulk of the particle kinematics are not dominated by hard processes. Fig. 29 shows the extracted kinetic freeze-out temperature, T_{kin} , and mean radial velocity, β_t , for identified pions as a function of $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$ for the most central events [107, 108]. It can be seen that at very low $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$ there is a steep rise in the extracted T_{kin} and β_t . For T_{kin} a plateau appears at higher $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$, although the radial velocity continues to increase.



FIG. 28: The charged particle v₁ as a function of η for Au+Au collisions at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 9.2$, 62.4 and 200 GeV [105], and for identified pions in $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 8.8$ GeV Pb+Pb collisions [91].

If instead of π one looks at K^+ , Fig. 30, a more interesting picture emerges. Instead of the extracted T_{kin} rising steadily to the topmost collision energies, the measured inverse slope of the p_T distribution appears to form a plateau for $\sqrt{s_{NN}} \sim 8$ -12 GeV before rising to significantly higher values for $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 130$ and 200 GeV [109]. Such behavior is seen for A+A collisions but not for p+p. If at intermediate $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$ the system instead forms a mixed phase region the early stage pressure and temperature are predicted to become independent of the energy density [110]. This effect creates a step like dependence of the pressure and temperature on the collision energy. This leads, in turn, to a weakening of the increase of the inverse slope parameter with $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$ as seen in Fig. 30. Measurements need to be made to see how far this possible plateau extends as this may signal the transition to a single phase QGP system. The K⁺/ π^+ ratio also exhibits interesting behavior around these collision energies (see subsection II B 4 and Fig. 31).





FIG. 29: The calculated thermal/kinetic freeze-out temperature and mean transverse radial flow as a function of $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$ [107, 108].

FIG. 30: The extracted inverse slope parameter of the p_T distributions of K⁺ as a function of $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$ for A+A and p+p collisions. From [109].



FIG. 31: The K^+/π^+ and K^-/π^- ratio as a function of

 $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$ [111]. Low energy data added to plot from [109].



FIG. 32: The $\bar{\Lambda}/\bar{p}$ ratio as a function of $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$. From [78]. The solid curve is a prediction from the statistical hadron gas model described in [112].

4. The K/π and $\bar{\Lambda}/\bar{p}$ Ratios

One of the most challenging set of results to model from the SPS are the K^+/π^+ ratios as a function of $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$, shown in Fig, 31 with data from [109, 113–117]. Given this result, and that of the fitted inverse slopes of the K^+ (Fig. 30), it is essential to go back and study this region in greater detail, as it suggests novel physics occurring. Smaller error bars will also prove if this peak is merely a statistical fluctuation. With our increased precision we will also be able to study this ratio differentially and see if this peak persists as a function of p_T and centrality.

Another ratio that is equally hard to explain with statistical hadronization models is the $\bar{\Lambda}/\bar{p}$ ratio. This ratio becomes extremely high at smaller $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$, Fig. 32 [78]. These measurements, especially those at the AGS, were an experimental tour-de-force, but lack statistical precision. STAR's large acceptance and high reconstruction efficiency of the $\bar{\Lambda}$ will drastically reduce the systematic and statistical errors. It is estimated that 1 Million events at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 6$ GeV will result in several thousand reconstructed $\bar{\Lambda}$.

It is possible that the dramatic rise at low $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$ is due to p- \bar{p} annihilation in the baryon-rich medium produced at these energies [118, 119]. However, it remains to be seen if this can account for all of the observed behavior since K^+/π^+ and $\bar{\Lambda}/\bar{p}$ both represent \bar{s}/\bar{d} and should therefore carry some of the same physics. It is also evident that there is a gap in these measurements between $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 20{\text{-}}60$, under our proposed run plan this region will be filled in.

5. Interferometry

By studying interferometry as a function of beam energy we can infer the energy density of the medium produced at the last re-scattering of the hadrons. The source dimensions, or homogeneity regions, as determined via HBT encode different information. R_{side} only contains information about the spatial extension while R_{out} holds spatial and temporal data. The ratio R_{out}/R_{side} can therefore reveal the emission duration of the source. It is predicted that for a first order phase transition this ratio should get much greater than unity due to a stalling in the emission during the phase transition [120]. Measurements of R_{out} , R_{side} and R_{long} as a function of collision energy have been studied in great detail and are shown, including new results at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 9.2$ GeV, later in Fig. 61. No major jumps in R_{out}/R_{side} are observed.



FIG. 33: HBT radii relative to 2nd-order event plane, in Au+Au at 200 GeV [121].



FIG. 34: Freeze-out anisotropy from 2^{nd} -order oscillations of HBT radii. Inset shows hydro. evolution of the source shape for an equation of state with (upper) and without (lower) softening due to finite latent heat [122].

Momentum spectra and anisotropy tell only half of the story of collective flow. The bulk response of the system has a non-trivial structure in both space and time. Just as the p_T -dependence of azimuthally-integrated HBT radii gives access to the geometric substructure generated by radial flow (e.g. [123]), HBT measured relative to the firstand second-order event plane are the spatial analogs of directed and elliptic flow [123, 124], respectively, and contain important information not accessible in momentum space alone. As explained below, these measurements can be sensitive to a softening in the equation of state, related to a first-order phase transition, or even rapid crossover.

STAR has measured oscillations of pion HBT radii relative to the second-order event plane (Fig. 33) [121]. In addition to the overall size of the source, these reveal that the transverse shape is extended out of the reaction plane at freezeout (the stage probed by HBT). It is, however, less anisotropic (more round) than the initial source defined by the overlap of the colliding nuclei at finite impact parameter, reflecting the evolution over time of preferential in-plane expansion. The anisotropy has been measured at a few lower energies, as well. Since the lifetime of the system and the elliptic flow increase with collision energy, one naively expects that, for a fixed initial anisotropy, the freeze-out anisotropy becomes less and less out-of-plane extended, and may even become in-plane extended (as predicted [125] for example at the LHC). Figure 34 shows the freeze-out anisotropy calculated from the second-order oscillations of these HBT radii as a function of collision energy. The results show an intriguing non-monotonic behavior. A possible explanation may be as follows: at low energies (say 3-10 GeV) the stiff equation of state of a hadronic system generates a large pressure, pushing the system quickly towards a round shape. But at some energy (say 20 GeV), a threshold to generate a phase transition is crossed, characterized by a finite latent heat. This generates a soft point in the equation of state, and the push towards a round, $\epsilon = 0$, state stalls briefly. As the energy increases beyond this threshold, the time spent in the soft state grows, and the out-of-plane-ness at freeze-out grows with energy, until some point (say 70 GeV). Then, at even higher energy, the system spends most of its time in the (stiff) QGP phase, and the out-of-plane-ness again decreases with energy with no further non-monotonic behaviour. This would be the direct analog of the non-monotonic excitation function of v_2 originally predicted by ideal hydro models with a softening due to a phase transition [93]. The signal in v₂ has not been observed, perhaps because increasing viscous effects at lower energies smears the structure. However, the spatial anisotropy probed by HBT is weighted in the time evolution differently, so may retain sensitivity to the softest point. Figure 34 represents one of the very rare bulk-sector probes with a non-monotonic excitation function. Especially given its potential to probe the long-sought "soft point, this excitation function must be mapped.

Measuring HBT correlations relative to the first-order event plane yields even more unique geometrical information. In particular, if one approximates the spatial configuration of the freeze-out system as an ellipse, one can extract the angle between its major axis and the beam direction. This tilt angle [124] is the spatial analog of the so-called flow angle [126] formerly used to characterize directed flow. It is, however, much larger ($\sim 40^{0}$ at AGS energies, compared for flow angles of $< 2^{0}$) and may even have opposite sign. Simultaneous measurement of both the tilt and flow angles provides unique insight on the nature and physics behind directed flow at lower energies. At RHIC energies, the directed flow becomes even more important, since here we are studying bulk response of the system at the very earliest stages of the collision. As discussed above, crossing a threshold to a phase transition will generate a wiggle in the directed flow at midrapidity, as the system spends most of the relevant time (keeping in mind that the very small time window to generate directed flow is of order of the crossing time) in the soft state. This same physical scenario is predicted to generate a non-trivial fingerprint on the coordinate-space configuration (of which the tilt angle is the dominant component). The geometry will probe the physics behind the third component of flow generating the v₁ wiggle. Table II shows the estimated number of events required to perform these measurements.

TABLE II: Estimate of number of events needed to measure azimuthally sensitive HBT.

$\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$	5	7.7	11.5	17.3	27	39
Number of Events	4M	$4 \mathrm{M}$	$3.5 {\rm M}$	$3.5 {\rm M}$	$3 \mathrm{M}$	$3 \mathrm{M}$

C. Turning off the Quark Gluon Plasma Signatures

RHIC has reported several measures that indicate that the medium created passes through a partonic phase at top energies [1–4]. We are interested in studying how these signals evolve as a function of $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$. As well as these partonic signatures, there are interesting results as a function of centrality that suggest different physical mechanisms dominate



FIG. 35: Identified particle v₂ as a function of transverse kinetic energy for Au+Au collisions at $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 200 \text{ GeV}.$



FIG. 36: Identified particle v₂ scaled by the number of constituent quarks in the hadron as a function of transverse kinetic energy scaled by the number of constituent quarks in the hadron for Au+Au collisions at $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 200$ GeV.

when transverse particle densities change from low to high, and the switch from one to the other is both dramatic in appearance and sudden. Many studies of these results can be performed with the energy scan. Some of the most promising are discussed below.

1. Constituent Quark Scaling of Elliptic Flow and Elliptic Flow of Multi-Strange Hadrons

As already stated above, extensive identified particle v_2 measurements have been made. Some of these are shown in Fig. ?? for various particle species as a function of transverse kinetic energy for Au+Au collisions at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 200$ GeV at RHIC. Baryons and mesons fall onto two separate curves. At low m_T -m₀ the v_2 follows hydrodynamical type behavior [127]. However, at intermediate values of m_T -m₀ the magnitude of the v_2 reaches a plateau with baryon $v_2 >$ meson v_2 , Fig. ??. If however one scales the v_2 and transverse kinetic energy, or p_T , by the number of constituent

quarks in the hadron, *all* particles now fall on a common curve [128–131], even in the region where two curves are seen in Fig. 36. Such scaling can be explained by quark coalescence, or recombination models [132–135], which provide an intriguing framework for hadronization of bulk partonic matter at RHIC. The essential degrees of freedom at the hadronization seem to be effective constituent quarks which have developed a collective elliptic flow during the partonic evolution. Further evidence is the sizable magnitude of v_2 of the ϕ and Ω . Both of these hadrons have small hadronic cross-sections so it is unlikely that they can develop an elliptic flow during the hadronic phase. Since v_2 is self quenching this suggests that the early stages of the collision are partonic [130, 131].

If this is indeed a QGP signature, one would expect these effects to turn off at lower $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$, especially if we drop below the transition temperature at the lowest $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$. At these energies, the elliptic flow would develop when the degrees of freedom of the system are dominated by hadronic interactions. To examine if the number of constituent quark scaling would still be observed when in the hadronic stage, we looked at simulations from the AMPT model [136]. This model can be run in two modes, with and without a partonic stage. Mode one is without string melting and the simulation involves purely hadronic interactions; this is the default setting. In mode two, string melting is included, resulting in a fully partonic stage at early times. Full details of the model can be found in reference [136]. AMPT with string melting has been shown to reproduce the trends of the RHIC v₂ data at $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 200$ GeV, but it cannot when string melting is turned off. The results for identified particle v₂ for both these modes at $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 9.2$ GeV are shown in Fig. 37. Constituent quark scaling is suggested in the string melting scenario whereas it is clearly absent in the case where only fragmentation via the Lund string model occurs.



FIG. 37: The identified particle v₂ parameter from AMPT model at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 9.2$ GeV, with and without string melting. See text for more details.

This measurement requires high statistics for identified hadrons at intermediate p_T . As the collision energy drops, such measurements therefore become very challenging. There are insufficient statistics to make this measurement with the current SPS data. Figure 38 shows an estimate of the statistical errors of the v_2 for identified protons and π at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 7.7$ GeV from 1.4 M 0-80% centrality events from AMPT predictions. The green curves show the estimated v_2 for baryons and mesons should Number of Constituent Quark (NCQ) scaling exist at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 7.7$ GeV. Also shown in this figure are estimates of the relative error on the proton and πv_2 at $p_T = 2$, 2.5, and 3 GeV/c for 4 M events. Extrapolating from this simulations we conclude that for $\sqrt{s_{NN}} > 12$ GeV and higher a significant measurement of potential constituent quark scaling can be made for π , K (K_s^0), p and, Λ up to (m_T -m₀)/NCQ ≈ 1.5 GeV with ~ 5 M minimum bias events. For the ϕ and Ω at least 25 M events are required to reach $p_T = 2$ GeV with a 10% statistical error due to their low production rates and the poor signal to background ratios [137, 138].



FIG. 38: AMPT predictions of identified particle v_2 as a function of p_T for 1.48 M Au+Au collisions at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 7.7$ GeV. Also shown is an estimation of the statistical errors for identified proton and πv_2 for 4 M events at 2, 2.5 and 3 GeV/c. The solid/dashed green curves are the predictions from NCQ scaling of v_2 for baryons/mesons.

Even if a QGP is always formed at collision energies available at RHIC, the fraction of time spent in the hadronic phase should increase with decreasing $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$. If constituent quark scaling is a pure partonic signal this may become washed out via hadronic interactions in this later stage. Thus a lack of constituent quark scaling could indicate either failure to push the system above the critical temperature or domination by the hadronic stage of the collision on the measured signals.

The PHENIX collaboration has reported an interesting systematic trend in the deviations of the v_2 of protons from constituent quark scaling as a function of centrality [139]. STAR have reported similar observations for protons and Λ [140]. To measure the accuracy of the constituent quark scaling with scaled transverse kinetic energy, PHENIX perform a fit to all the scaled measured data and then plot the deviations of each hadronic species to this common fit. This fit is performed as a function of centrality for $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 200$ GeV Au+Au collisions and shown in Fig. 39. If one focuses on the (anti)proton data (the blue triangles) one sees that for the more central collisions, the low p_T data fall below the common fit. As the centrality decreases this deviation from the scaling diminishes smoothly until the 40-50% data is reached at which point the data changes dramatically, to show a positive deviation. The 40-50% data is at N_{part} ~ 90 matching the centrality where the low p_T ridge correlation measured by STAR also starts to show dramatic deviations from a p+p linear superposition model [141], and this result is discussed in the sub-section II C 3. This feature of the low p_T identified particle v_2 measurements can be extremely well mapped during the energy scan, to see if it is a coincidence or whether possible dramatic changes in the underlying physics mechanism affect both measures.

2. Nuclear Modification Factors and Baryon/Meson Ratios

At intermediate to high p_T , it was initially expected that hard processes, that could be calculated via pQCD, would dominate. The nuclear modification factor, R_{CP} , is the N_{bin} scaled ratio of central to peripheral p_T distributions. If hard processes were not affected by the presence of the medium, and should scale with the number of binary collisions and R_{CP} would equal unity. As shown in Fig. 40, high p_T particles are strongly suppressed [142]. Above 4-5 GeV/c all particle species, including non-photonic electrons from the decay of heavy-flavored hadrons, are suppressed by a factor



FIG. 39: Identified particle v₂ per constituent quark divided by a common fit function as a function of transverse kinetic energy per constituent quarks for Au+Au collisions at $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 200$ GeV for different centralities.

of 5 in central Au-Au collisions. Attempts have been made to measure the R_{CP} of hadrons at the SPS [143, 144]. Unfortunately the reach of their data is not sufficient to make a firm statement as to whether the suppression is the same as that at top RHIC energies. Since all species measured to date show significant suppression one can measure the charged hadron nuclear suppression factor to determine that "jet suppression" has started. At lower collision energies initial state effects such as the Cronin effect [145] – the enhancement of particle yield at intermediate p_T with respect to binary collision scaling – become more prominent. By measuring the nuclear modification factor, R_{CP} , instead of R_{AA} , the N_{bin} scaled ratio of A+A to p+p p_T distributions, the initial state effects should be minimized. Finally, since the suppression is also large, one can have a sizable statistical error and still make a meaningful estimate. Table III shows estimates of the number of events needed to determine R_{CP} of charged hadrons at each beam energy, in order to locate the beam energy at which interactions with the medium begin to affect hard partons. It has been estimated that too many events are needed to perform this measurement at lower energies.

TABLE III: Estimates of events needed to measure R_{CP} up to various p_T values at three different beam energies. It has been estimated that too many events are needed to perform this measurement at lower energies so they are not shown here.

$\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$ (GeV)	18	27	39
p_T reach (GeV/c)	4.5	5.5	6.0
Number of Events	$15 \mathrm{M}$	33 M	24 M

One of the first indications that particle production at p_T above 2 GeV/c was not purely from modified jet fragmentation came from the measurement of baryon/meson ratios. The p/π , and Λ/K_s^0 ratios surpassed unity for intermediate p_T in the more central events, far higher than that observed in p+p collisions, Fig. 41 [142, 146, 147]. At higher p_T the ratios turn over and decrease steadily until reaching values close to that observed in elementary collisions at p_T around 6 GeV/c. This intermediate p_T range is also the region where the v_2 of baryons is larger than that of mesons. Novel hadronization mechanisms are required to reproduce these data. The majority of these models use a recombination/coalescence (ReCo) mechanism to form hadrons, as with the quark scaling of v_2 , described above, these models only combine constituent quarks [132–135]. This mechanism naturally leads to an enhanced baryon-to-meson ratio when the parton p_T distribution is an exponential, i.e. when hadron production is not dominated by fragmentation which gives a power-law-like distribution. Such models require quarks to coalesce and hence the



FIG. 40: Identified particle ${\rm R}_{CP}$ for Au+Au collisions at $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$ =200 GeV. From [142].



FIG. 41: The Λ/K_s^0 ratio as a function of p_T for Au+Au and p-p collisions at 200 GeV. From [142].

observation of ReCo-like behavior is one of the corner-stone pieces of evidence of the formation of the sQGP.

One of the interesting topics of the energy scan is to investigate in which energies these phenomena are prevalent. Although the cross-section for high p_T processes is smaller at lower $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$, the push to high p_T due to radial flow is also lower so the ReCo regime may move to lower p_T ranges, counterbalancing somewhat the loss in the hard scattering production rate.

3. Jet Correlations and The Ridge

Hard scattered partons fragment into a spray of collimated hadrons known as a "jet". By examining di-hadron $\Delta \eta -\Delta \phi (\Delta \eta = \eta_1 - \eta_2 \text{ and } \Delta \phi = \phi_1 - \phi_2)$ correlations, these jets can be identified in the presence of a large background. This background is subtracted statistically. In p-p collisions, clear back-to-back peaks from the high Q² interactions are apparent. However, in more central A+A collisions, the away-side correlation disappears. This is believed to be due to re-scattering of the away-side parton as it traverses the sQGP. The near-side correlation remains, showing evidence of vacuum-like fragmentation. While making these measurements, an interesting feature emerged in more central A+A collisions, namely a long range $\Delta \eta$ correlation at small $\Delta \phi$. This long range correlation sits under the jet peak and extends to at least $\Delta \eta=1$. This phenomenon, called the ridge, appears to be correlated with jet-like triggers but the particles within the correlation have features reminiscent of the bulk rather than jet fragmentation, i.e. the p/π ratio is close to that of the bulk, not a jet, and the p_T spectra are softer than those from fragmentation[148]. This ridge correlation appears in both high p_T triggered and un-triggered correlation studies.

UnTriggered Correlations

At RHIC, differential analyses have been developed to allow more detailed investigations of the observed fluctuations. Instead of looking at the event-wise quantities, we instead study correlations:

$$\frac{\Delta\rho}{\sqrt{\rho_{\rm ref}}}$$

where $\rho_{\rm ref}$ is the number of mixed event pairs in the distribution being studied and $\Delta \rho$ is the number of pairs in the real event minus $\rho_{\rm ref}$. These correlations are then plotted as a function of relative angles ϕ and η . The resulting distributions for Au+Au collisions at $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 62$ and 200 GeV are shown in Fig. 42 [149]. Clear structures, including the near-side jet peak can be seen for all centralities. In p-p collisions, these distributions can be well described by a fit function derived from four simple components. These are a:

1. 1-D Gaussian in ϕ_{Δ} accounting for longitudinal fragmentation.



FIG. 42: Pair density correlations for Au+Au collisions at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 62$ and 200 GeV as a function of centrality. From [149].

- 2. 2-D exponential at very small $\Delta \eta$, $\Delta \phi$ for HBT, resonances and e^+e^- pairs.
- 3. 2-D Gaussian accounting for a mini-jet peak at small $\Delta \eta$, $\Delta \phi$
- 4. $\cos(\Delta\phi)$ term for the dipole on the away-side

In A+A events, this fit function must be augmented with a $\cos(2\Delta\phi)$ term to account for an additional component that is usually associated with elliptic flow. This simple functional form gives a reasonable description of the main features of the data. In Fig. 42, it can be seen that in the more central bins, the long range $\Delta\eta$ correlation emerges. The parameters of the fit to the mini-jet 2-D Gaussian are shown in Fig. 43 as a function of $\nu=2N_{\rm bin}/N_{\rm part}$. An increase in both the peak amplitude and η width, but not the ϕ width, above binary scaling (indicated by the dashed curves in Fig. 43), occurs for both collision systems and energies at large values of ν . It is not yet clear what causes the ridge correlation or why there is a rapid onset. This is a particle number correlation, and there is no such rapid transition occurring in the equivalent p_T correlation studies. It would also be of great interest to attempt these studies using PID to see if these phenomenon occurs for all baryons and mesons. Table IV shows our estimate of the number of events required to perform these studies using non-identified particles.

TABLE IV: Estimate of events needed to measure the un-triggered ridge correlations It has been estimated that too many events are needed to perform this measurement at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 5$ GeV.

$\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$	11.5	17.3	27	39
Number of Events	$13 \mathrm{M}$	$8 \mathrm{M}$	$6 \mathrm{M}$	$6 \mathrm{M}$

One possible explanation is that this is caused by Glasma flux tube radiation in combination with radial and elliptic flow and a flowing sQGP [150]. A plausible interpretation of the onset of the un-triggered ridge relates the onset to collisions passing through the transition scale $Q_s/\alpha_s(Q_s)$ [151]. The saturation momentum of partons in the nuclear wavefunction, Q_s , grows rapidly with nuclear size and energy. Hence $\alpha_s(Q_s)$, the strong interaction strength, is correspondingly weak for high energy hadron-hadron collisions and nuclear collisions.

This could be tested via the energy scan as different $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$ would produce the ridge at different centralities but the same transition scale. Fig. 44 and Fig. 45 represent the two cases when the transition scale scales with either energy



FIG. 43: Preliminary fit parameters of the 2-D mini-jet Gaussian to the pair density correlations for Au+Au and Cu+Cu collisions at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 62$ and 200 GeV as a function of ν . From [141]. The vertical lines in the left figure indicate the value of ν for collisions with impact parameters of b=0. The curves/bands labeled "GLS" indicate the values of the parameters if the data scaled with the number of binary collisions.

density or particle density. The colored curves represent differing collision energies. Below the transition scale, no ridge is produced and the curves are interpolated smoothly between the two cases. It can be seen that as the $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$ of the collision is lowered, the number of participants required to pass above the transition point rises. In the case of energy density scaling no ridge is produced below $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 35$ GeV, in the particle density case the ridge persists down to $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 13$ GeV. These predictions could be tested via the energy scan.



FIG. 44: The un-triggered ridge amplitude as a function of N_{part} when the transition scale is related to the energy density. The different colored curves represent different $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$.



FIG. 45: The un-triggered ridge amplitude as a function of N_{part} when the transition scale is related to the particle density. The different colored curves represent different $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$.

Triggered Correlations

By triggering on high p_T particles and associating them only with the particles in intermediate p_T ranges, the jet component of the two particle correlations can be selected, while minimizing the soft particle background. In these analyses, clear near-side jet peaks are observed [152] as well as the long range $\Delta \eta$ correlation [153]. As expected from jet fragmentation, the near-side jet correlation yield rises as a function of trigger p_T , Fig. 46, but stays approximately constant as a function of centrality [154]. The ridge yield on the other hand increases with N_{part}, Fig. 47. Interestingly, while both the jet and ridge yields rise with $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$, the ratio Ridge/Jet is constant, for $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 62$ and 200 GeV, Fig. 48 [154]. It needs to be tested if this is true at other collision energies or merely a coincidence.



FIG. 46: The jet correlation yield per trigger on the nearside as a function of trigger particle's p_T for $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 62$ and 200 GeV Au+Au, Cu+Cu and d-Au collisions. The colored curves are predictions from PYTHIA.



FIG. 48: The Ridge/Jet correlation yield ratio as a function of N_{part} for Cu+Cu and Au+Au collisions at $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$ = 62 and 200 GeV. From [154].



FIG. 47: The number of particles in the near side ridge correlation as a function of N_{part} for $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 200$ and 62 GeV Cu+Cu and Au+Au collisions.



FIG. 49: The triggered correlations from SPS compared to PHENIX. The away-side distribution does not change. Note the scaling of PHENIX by a factor 0.4.

Both CERES [155] and NA49 [156] have attempted this analysis at the SPS. While they see evidence for a near-side jet correlation their away-side peaks are consistent with that arising from momentum conservation only, Fig. 49. Also, they do not have the acceptance or statistics to attempt a two dimensional analysis so they can make no statements about the presence of the ridge. We therefore propose to pursue this analysis with STAR to further our understanding of this phenomenon.

To estimate the feasibility of these studies we have performed PYTHIA simulations. While PYTHIA does not produce the ridge correlation, it is a good representation of fragmentation so we focus on the near-side jet correlation. Since the ridge correlation is similar in magnitude to the jet correlation at $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 62$ and 200 GeV, we determine the event rate estimates by assuming that if there are sufficient statistics to see the jet, the ridge should also be measurable, i.e. we assume that the ridge/jet ratio remains a constant. PYTHIA simulations were run at various energies and the correlations produced via the same techniques used on the real data. Two trigger and associated thresholds were used following the cuts of STAR and the lower values of NA49. The cuts used were 1) $3 < p_T trig < 6 \text{ GeV/c}$ and $1.5 < p_T assoc < p_T trig GeV/c and 2) <math>2 < p_T trig < 4 \text{ GeV/c}$ and $1 < p_T assoc < p_T trig GeV/c$. The NA49 studies are performed with lower thresholds to improve their statistics. This is not possible at the current higher energies of STAR because of the increased reach in p_T of the soft physics background. The statistics are estimated by requiring a better than 50% relative error on the extracted jet correlation yield. The required number of events is shown in Table. V. This is likely a slight underestimate as the error due to the background subtraction is not included. It can be seen that this study is possible down to $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 27 \text{ GeV}$ when the NA49 approach is used. The ridge yield is strongly affected by the v₂ subtraction, however as the $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$ of the collision reduces, so does the measured elliptic

flow, so this systematic error is likely to reduce faster than the signal.

	Number of Events	Number of Events
$\sqrt{s_{NN}}$ (GeV)	$2 < p_T^{trig} < 4 \text{ GeV}$	$3 < p_T^{trig} < 6 \text{ GeV}$
• • • •	$1.0 < p_T^{assoc} < p_T^{trig}$	$1.5 < p_T^{assoc} < p_T^{trig}$
200	0.8 M	1.6 M
62	2 M	8 M
39	$4.5 \mathrm{M}$	$24 \mathrm{M}$
27	8.8 M	$53 \mathrm{M}$
20	23 M	$240 \mathrm{M}$

TABLE V: Estimate of events needed to measure high p_T jet correlations as a function of $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$.

D. Particle Production Studies

1. Identified Particle Yields, Spectra and Statistical Model Fits

Since phase diagrams describe only thermalized media, if we are to place a point on the phase diagram we need to ascertain that the medium created in heavy-ion collisions is, at least temporarily, in thermal equilibrium. This goal continues to be a challenge for the whole heavy-ion community. To this end the bulk/soft physics of integrated yields, transverse momentum spectra and particle ratios need to be studied.

Statistical models have had great success in describing the mid-rapidity, and integrated, particle yields as a function of $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$. While successful fits do not prove the validity of the model's interpretation of the parameters as the thermal parameters of chemical freeze-out temperature, T_{ch} , and baryon chemical potential, μ_B , should the fits not work the system *cannot* be in thermal equilibrium at hadronization. It is therefore useful to perform these fits before embarking on other measures that require the assumption of thermal equilibration to be interpreted. With STAR's large acceptance and good PID these measures are achieved to high statistical precision with only a very small event count. Previous fits to the data, for example Fig. 78, have shown that from SPS energies upwards the extracted T_{ch} is very close to the cross-over temperature, T_c , for a phase transition predicted from lattice QCD of ~ 170-195 MeV [20, 157]. This is one of the indications that the QGP is formed in these collisions.

2. Strange Particle Yields

For more than 25 years, it was expected that the production of strange particles in a QGP phase would be enhanced with respect to a hadron gas [158, 159]. Also, during hadronisation, the *s* and *bars* quarks from the plasma may coalesce to form ϕ mesons. Production by this process is not suppressed as per the OZI (Okubo-Zweig-Izuka) rule [160– 163]. This, coupled with large abundances of strange quarks produced in the medium, would again lead to a dramatic increase in the production of ϕ mesons relative to non-QGP production [158, 159]. The NA35 and NA49 experiments reported [164, 165] that in central S+S (Pb+Pb) collisions at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 19.3$ (17.3) GeV the kaon to pion ratio is approximately two times higher than in N+N interactions at the same energy per nucleon. However, it was later discovered that an even greater enhancement occurs at lower energies, where no QGP is expected [113, 115, 166–174]. Interpretation of the experimental data is therefore difficult and additional high precision measurements at lower collision energies would be illuminating.

Another crucial point is the centrality dependence of strangeness production. It was observed by the NA57 and NA49 collaborations [175–179] that an enhancement is also visible for other strange particle species and that it depends on the strange quark content. Fig. 50 shows the comparison of the centrality dependence of Ξ^- , Λ and $\bar{\Lambda}$ yields ($|y| \leq 0.5$) between NA57 and NA49 at $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 17.3$ (top panel) and $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 8.8$ GeV (bottom panel). For all particle species and energies a discrepancy is observed for the more central collisions except for $\bar{\Lambda}$ where a discrepancy is also visible in peripheral collisions. Furthermore, the shape of the Λ centrality dependence at $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 17.3$ GeV is different between NA57 and NA49.



FIG. 50: Comparison of the centrality dependence of Ξ^- , Λ and $\overline{\Lambda}$ yields ($|\mathbf{y}| \leq 0.5$) at $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 17.3$ (top panel) and $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 8.8$ GeV (bottom panel) between NA57 and NA49.

Fig. 51 shows the collision energy dependence of mid-rapidity strange particle production from SPS to RHIC measured by the NA57 [175–177], NA49 [137, 180], CERES [181] and STAR [79, 80, 182, 183] collaborations. A clear discrepancy between NA57 and NA49 is visible for all particles. For K_s^0 CERES and NA49 are in good agreement whereas NA57 measure a slightly higher K_s^0 yield.

In order to describe the shape and the enhancement in the centrality dependence it is important to consider different types of models. Statistical models are quite successful at fitting particle yields in central Pb+Pb/Au+Au collisions [184, 185]. The centrality dependence of strangeness production is described in terms of a transformation from canonical to a grand canonical ensemble in the statistical model [186]. This model uses a correlation volume in order to make a comparison to experimental data. A different approach to determine the correlation volume is used in the percolation model [187]. In this model, the fireball volume is segmented into smaller sub-volumes (clusters). A similar approach is used by the so-called core-corona model [188], where an A+A collision is assumed to consist of a central core in full chemical equilibrium ($\gamma_s=1$) surrounded by a corona produced by p+p type of interactions where strangeness is under-saturated. In order to use a hadronic baseline, microscopic models like UrQMD [58] can be used to distinguish between a hadronic and partonic world. So far, discrimination between strange hadron enhancement due to dense partonic medium formed in heavy-ion collisions or canonical supression in p+p collisions has been highly ambiguous, when using the available experimental data on strange hadrons with non-zero net-strangeness. However, the measured enhancement of the ϕ ($s\bar{s}$) production (zero net strangeness) in heavy-ion collisions relative to p+p collisions at RHIC, Fig. 52, seems to clearly indicate the formation of a dense partonic medium [189, 190]. Furthermore ϕ mesons do not follow the strange quark ordering as expected in the canonical picture for the production of other strange hadrons [189, 190]. This seems to rule out canonical suppression effects being the predominant cause of the observed enhancement in other strange hadrons in high energy heavy-ion collisions. The BES will allow the further testing of the centrality and energy dependence of strangeness enhancement predicted from the various models.



FIG. 51: The energy dependence of strange particle and anti-strange particle yields at midrapidity ($|y| \le 0.5$) from SPS to RHIC energies.

3. Mechanisms of particle production at forward rapidity

At top RHIC energies, two interesting features have been observed at forward rapidities: (a) While at forward rapidities particle production scales purely on the number of participants [79], at mid-rapidity the production follows a dependence on both the number of participants and the number of binary collisions [191]. This suggests that there are different particle production mechanisms at work as a function of rapidity. The beam energy dependence of these scalings needs to be studied to fully understand how particles are produced in heavy-ion collisions. (b) The longitudinal scaling of charged particles and π at near-beam rapidities observed at RHIC, left plot in Fig. 53, has been found to be beam energy independent, but centrality dependent [192]. The reason for this centrality dependence may be attributed to fact that the measured charged particle yields contain significant contributions from baryons which vary strongly with the number of participants in the collision. This changing baryon transport plus direct contribution from beam protons could be reason for violation of the scaling (as shown in Fig. 53). Photon production being mostly from π^0 decays provides a clean test of the energy and centrality dependence of longitudinal scaling.

Not many multiplicity detectors will be available at forward rapidity at RHIC during the proposed beam energy scan program; data from the PMD will provide crucial information regarding the rapidity dependence of particle production.

4. Light Nuclei Production

The very small binding energies of nuclei of mass number A imply that these composite objects are formed via the coalescence of A nucleons, that are close together in phase space at the time of chemical freeze-out. Their production rates and spectra depend sensitively on the interplay of several dynamical aspects of the collisions such as nucleon density profiles, temperatures, and collective flow. Volume expansion due to secondary interactions tends



FIG. 52: The measured enhancement of various strange particles in A+A compared to p+p at the same beam energy as a function of the number of participants. Top panel: For K, ϕ , $\bar{\Lambda}$ and Ξ in Au+Au and Cu+Cu collisions at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 200$ GeV. Bottom panel: For the ϕ in Au+Au and Cu+Cu collisions at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 200$ and 62.4 GeV. From [190].



FIG. 53: Longitudinal scaling of π and protons rapidity distributions for various collision beam energies [193]. Rapidity distribution normalized to number of participating nucleon pair is plotted as a function of rapidity shifted by beam rapidity.

to diminish cluster yields as the overall particle production increases with the total energy $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$ of the collision. Counterbalancing effects arise from collective flow which tends to focus nucleons and nuclei in phase space and hence increases the production rates of clusters and decreases the apparent source sizes with respect to the total volume of the system. Collective motion, temperatures, and densities are also related to entropy production and pressures, which are important quantities in the study of phase diagrams. Thus, the study of the rates and spectra of light nuclei remains a useful tool for understanding the expansion and correlations of the source. A wide variety of physics can be extracted from the study of light fragment production.

- A specific ratio of the invariant cross-sections for light nuclei and nucleons, called "B_A", can be converted into effective source volumes (V_A~1/B_A) in a number of model-dependent ways. These effective volumes can be compared directly to those obtained from intensity interferometry, *e.g.* the product of the "side" and "long" radii $(R_s 2R_l)^{1/3}$. The discrepancies in these comparisons are often interesting as they can result from the specific model assumptions used to convert the coalescence B_A values into volumes in the presence of strong collective flow and the temporal development of the source size (higher mass nuclei freeze-out earlier than lighter nuclei).
- Light nucleus production rates can be used to estimate particle phase-space densities at freeze-out [194]. Such studies have indicated complex relationships between the freeze-out surfaces for pions and nucleons that depends on $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$ via the overall production rates of pions and nucleons. At the lowest (highest) energies studied at the SPS, freezeout is governed by the nucleons (pions) [194].
- The ratio of invariant cross-sections for particles and antiparticles of mass, A, can be used to deduce values of the chemical potentials to the temperature (and the square of the "Fugacity"), for example: d/d =exp(-2μ^A_B/T). As the proton chemical potential can be independently measured, the measurement of d/d (and the ratios for higher mass nuclei) can provide information on the neutron chemical potential and the n/n ratios, which are not generally directly measurable [195, 196].
- At the SPS [197, 198], the initial n/p ratio of 1.54:1 for 208 Pb evolves towards the equilibration value of ~1:1 in the fireball due to strong resonance production. Thus, the measurement of the triton/³He ratio, for example, can be converted using a simple additive procedure to the freeze-out n/p ratio in the source, and hence determine the degree of chemical equilibration achieved there.
- The deuteron to proton ratios can be used to determine the entropy per baryon [199, 200] via S/A = $3.95 \cdot \ln(d/p) + (N_{\pi}/N_n)$.
- Recent studies from the lattice indicate strong effects in the net-baryon kurtosis (measured via net-protons in an experiment) near the critical point (see Section:II A 1). Similar effects may be visible in the study of the fluctuations in the deuteron production rates in the same events.

The EOS, E877, and E878 experiments at the AGS, the NA44, NA49, and NA52 experiments at the CERN-SPS, and the RHIC experiments, have provided a wealth of information on the $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$ dependence of light nuclei production in A+A collisions. However, a systematic study of the light nucleus production rates and spectra in a RHIC energy $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$ scan may clear up some unresolved aspects of the data from the SPS experiments. These aspects are as follows.

- The SPS experiments do not in general measure the same kinematic regions near mid-rapidity. The comparison of the results thus requires an approximate scaling from one experiment's acceptance to another's, and the production rates so compared are not always in perfect agreement [201, 202]. The B_A ratios measured by NA44 and NA52 at the top SPS energy differ by a factor of two (a ~3- σ discrepancy) while the NA49 result is in between. Only NA49 measured light fragments at SPS beam energies lower than $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 17.3$ GeV.
- In the NA49 data, the rapidity distributions of ³He nuclei are "concave" versus the rapidity (*i.e.* indicate a shallow minimum at $y_{CM} = 0$), while the nucleon rapidity spectra are essentially flat in the same rapidity region. The observed increase in the ³He formation rates for increasing $|y_{CM}|$ is not yet understood [197, 198]. The observed dependence of the light nucleus production rates on the rapidity in NA44 [203] is a feature that disagrees with the model of Ref. [204], which is otherwise successful in describing direct comparisons of the source dimensions inferred from HBT intensity interferometry to those obtained from light nucleus coalescence prescriptions.
- The distinction [205] between the coalescence of A nucleons versus the coalescence of nucleons and lighter fragments for the formation of a cluster of mass A is not completely clear. Some analyses imply that deuteron formation as an intermediate step to triton formation is required to match the data [206] [207] while others disagree [203].

5. (Anti-)Hypernuclei

A hyper-nucleus is a nucleus which contains at least one hyperon in addition to nucleons. The first hyper-nucleus was discovered by Marian Danysz and Jerzy Pniewski in 1952 in a cosmic ray experiment [208]. The smallest and simplest hyper-nucleus is hypertriton $(3\Lambda H)$, consisting of a Λ , a proton and a neutron. Hyperons inside a hypernucleus contain strangeness quantum number, and hence, provide one more degree of freedom for nuclear spectroscopy than the normal nucleus, which consists of protons and neutrons. These hypernuclei also provide an ideal laboratory for studying the force between hyperon and nucleon (Y-N interaction), which was otherwise not possible with normal nuclei or the traditional hadron-hadron or electron-positron beams. This information is much needed to understand the configuration of a neutron star, which depending on the strength of the interaction can alternatively be an object of strange quark matter, hyperon star, or a kaon condensate at the core [209].

The conventional methods of providing hypernuclei were by cosmic ray interaction, kaon capture or strangeness exchange [210]. There are currently several hypernucleus experiments in the major nuclear facilities: MAMIC at Mainz and JLab (photo-production), FINUDA at $DA\phi NE$ (stopped kaon beam from e⁺e⁻ collider), J-PARC (stopped kaon from hadron beam), PANDA at FAIR (stopped anti-proton annihilation), and HypHI at FAIR and SPHERE at JINR (heavy ion beam). All these experiments require a target of baryon-rich dense nuclear matter to provide the nucleons necessary for hypernucleus production, and are incapable of producing anti-hypernuclei: the anti-matter of hypernuclei.

RHIC collisions produce an abundance of particles with a high phase-space density. This environment is thus uniquely suited for the production of exotic nuclei and anti-nuclei and anti-hypernuclei via coalescence at the late stages of the evolution of the medium produced. The abundances of nuclei and anti-nuclei are similar at the core of the reaction zone since the anti-matter and matter are more or less equal at top RHIC energies. This offers the first opportunity for discovery of anti-hypernuclei as well as anti-nuclei (A > 3). Since the coalescence process for formation of hypernuclei (anti-hypernuclei) requires that nucleons (anti-nucleons) and hyperons (anti-hyperons) are produced in proximity, the hypernucleus (anti-hypernucleus) production are sensitive to correlations of the coordinate and momentum phase space distributions of nucleons and hyperons. Similarity or equilibrium between these two species is one of the signatures of the QGP formation, which would also result in higher hypernucleus (anti-hypernucleus) yields. The hypertriton yields can be compared to the yields of ³He and triton which have the same atomic mass number. We have found clear evidence for the first-ever observation of a anti-hypernucleus, the anti-hypertriton, as reported in [211]. The anti-hypertriton and the hypertriton were reconstructed in the TPC and identified via the secondary vertex of hypertriton to (³He + π). We have also been able to measure the anti-hypertriton lifetime, though with a large statistical uncertainty (20 to 30%).

We plan to increase statistics for the signals currently under study, which for example, will result in a more precise lifetime measurement for the anti-hypertriton. We plan to carry out a few key measurements of hypernucleus production which will provide crucial information about the hyperon – nucleon correlation. The BES will provide data points between AGS and top RHIC energies to establish the trend of the hypertriton/³He ratio. This can then be compared to calculations at a quantitative level. For $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 17$ (5) GeV, with a penalty factor of 368 (48) [212] and a ³He yield of 2×10^{-4} (0.01) and a hypertriton/³He ratio of 0.3 (0.05) the estimated number of min-bias Au+Au events needed to extract a hypertriton signal at the 5σ level is 10-100 M (1-10 M). The above estimates assume that the reconstruction efficiency is the same at all energies. In reality, the background and hyperon yields decrease with decreasing beam energy while reconstruction efficiency increases due to lower TPC occupancy.

E. Local Parity Violation in the Strong Interaction

The observation of local parity violation in the strong interaction in heavy-ion collisions would be an extremely important result. The concept that non-central collisions may result in such a violation was first postulated over a decade ago [213, 214]. More recently it was suggested that it can result in charge separation relative to the reaction plane [215]. Non-central events should produce media with large orbital angular momenta. Since the system has a net charge this should result in strong magnetic fields. If the system is also de-confined this may result in P violating domains and different number of left and right handed quarks. In the strong magnetic field it will result in preferential emission of like sign charged particles from these domains along the angular momentum vector, i.e. in the direction normal to the reaction plane. If one could measure the number of positively or negatively charged particles with respect to this plane, the P violating domains should result in

$$\frac{dN_{\pm}}{d\phi} \propto 1 + 2a_{\pm}\sin(\phi - \Psi_{RP}) + 2v_1\cos(\phi - \Psi_{RP}) + 2v_2\cos(2(\phi - \Psi_{RP})) + \dots$$

where a_{\pm} is the asymmetry and thus a measure of the scale of the parity violation. The problem is that while the emission direction is preferred to be along the angular momentum vector, the sign of this emission vector is random for each domain. This means that $\langle a_{\pm} \rangle = 0$ and since $dN_{\pm}/d\phi$ can only be measured statistically by experiments the proposed signal is lost. What can be measured is the mean pair asymmetry, $\langle a_{\alpha}a_{\beta} \rangle$, where α and β indicate all possible particle charge sign combinations.

$$\langle \cos(\phi_{\alpha} + \phi_{\beta} - 2\Psi_{RP}) \rangle \approx (v_{1,\alpha}v_{1,\beta} - a_{\alpha}a_{\beta})$$

 $\langle a_+a_-\rangle$ should show a positive correlation for like-sign pairs and a negative one for unlike-sign pairs [216]. Such signals, Fig. 54, have recently been reported by STAR in non-central Au+Au and Cu+Cu events at $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 200 \text{ GeV}$ where the magnitude of the effect grows with decreasing centrality as predicted [217]. Such a parity violating signal only results from the combination of a strong B-field (peripheral events) and de-confinement. This means there is likely to be a strong threshold effect that can be sought via the energy scan. Due to the predicted increase in the signal as the collision energy decreases (unless the sQGP is no longer formed) it has been estimated that 4 M events are sufficient to resolve the signal for $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 5-39$ GeV.

Care must be taken however before parity violation is declared in these events because $\langle a_{\alpha}a_{\beta} \rangle$ is P-even not P-odd and so may contain significant contributions from other sources such as resonance decays. Several of these contaminating sources have been investigated and none have been able to consistently create signals of the right magnitudes and centrality dependence [218]. The shaded areas in Fig. 54 indicate the magnitudes of the background contributions, these effects should be smaller at lower collision energies. One way to lend credence to this P-violation measure is to observe the same result at different collision energies. By varying $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$ the contributions from the other contaminating sources will occur with different weights. Thus the observation of this potentially P violating signature at other energies will help rule out other more traditional explanations of the results.



FIG. 54: $\langle \cos(\phi_{\alpha} + \phi_{\beta} - 2\Psi_{RP}) \rangle$ as a function of centrality for Au+Au and Cu+Cu events at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 200$ GeV. The shaded regions indicate the systematic uncertainties. The thick and dashed curves are HIJING 3-particle correlation calculations for Au+Au and Cu+Cu collisions respectively. Figure from [217]. The uncertainties will be smaller at lower collision energies.

A number of short low energy test runs have been performed at RHIC, the data recorded are used below to examine STAR's readiness for the BES. In particular data have been taken at $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 19.6$ and 9.2 GeV in 2001 and 2008 respectively. The 2008 9.2 GeV run was below injection energy. STAR recorded ~175 k Au+Au collisions at the injection energy of $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 19.6$ GeV. From these data 5k events belongs to the top 10% collision centrality and had a well reconstructed primary vertex. During the two days of $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 9.2$ GeV tests 200 k triggers were recorded resulting in ~3.5 k good Au+Au events. A good event is defined as having a reconstructed primary vertex that is well within the TPCs acceptance (|z| < 30 cm) and consistent with coming from along the beamline. The results have been published in [105].

Even with these few events the uncorrected minimum bias charge particle transverse momentum spectrum at 9.2 GeV extends to > 3 GeV/c, Fig. 55, and there are indications of an $\overline{\Lambda}$ peak, Fig. 56.



 Mass Anti-Lambda
 massAu

 Fifties 512
 Entries 512

 50
 Mass Anti-Lambda

 40
 Mass Anti-Lambda

 50
 Mass Anti-Lambda

 40
 Mass Anti-Lambda

 50
 Mass Anti-Lambda

 40
 Mass Anti-Lambda

 40
 Mass Anti-Lambda

 50
 Mass Anti-Lambda

 40
 Mass Anti-Lambda

FIG. 55: The uncorrected p_T spectrum of charged particles for $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 9.2$ GeV minimumbias Au+Au data.

FIG. 56: The invariant mass distribution of the $\bar{\Lambda}$ for $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$ = 9.2 GeV minimumbias Au+Au data.

While neither of these runs were long enough to improve on the physics measurements reported by the SPS experiments many checks have been performed. Some of the results of the analyses of these data are shown briefly below, or have been included in the figures and discussions in the previous sections. The resulting p_T spectra are shown for π , K and (anti)protons in Fig. 57 for the 19.6 GeV and for pions and protons at 9.2 GeV in Fig. 58 [105, 107, 219]. Similar results exist for the charged kaons. We measure 82% of the produced π at mid-rapidity and 75% of the protons, the kaon reach is not as complete, covering only 47% of the yield, however this will be greatly improved with the inclusion of the ToF. HBT radii have been extracted from the $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 9.2$ GeV Au+Au collisions for π in the 0-30% centrality bin, Fig. 60. The fits yield results that correspond with the $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$ systematics from AGS to RHIC shown in Fig. 61 [220]. No anomalous jump is seen in the R_{out}/R_{side} ratio, although the peak could be narrow and located between $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 20$ and 60 GeV. The feasibility of such a measurement is indicated in Fig. 59 where statistically relevant identified v₂ measurements have been made with only ~3 k events. To date all of STARs results fit well into the measured systematics reported by the SPS, indicating that STAR is ready for full length data taking.

Running at sub-injection energies requires a different harmonic to top energy running and is challenging to both the experiments and the collider. For instance the particular choice of $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 9.2$ GeV did not allow the beams to be cogged at STAR and PHENIX simultaneously. However, data were recorded and this cogging issue will be resolved for the BES by an appropriate selection of collision energies. The data taken during this short run are used below to demonstrate that the event rate projections for the BES are correct, and that STAR's triggering, and event and vertex reconstruction capabilities, designed for top energies, are applicable at these low $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$.

During this test beam an event rate at STAR of ~ 1 Hz was observed. This is a much lower rate than that expected during the actual energy scan due to a number of factors. The two major ones were: a) since this was a test run only 56 bunches, out of a maximum of 120, were used and b) the intensity of each bunch was less than the maximum possible by a factor 3-6. A further gain in measured luminosity could be obtained by running in continuous injection mode. All these factors combined suggest that during the actual energy scan an event rate of >5 Hz can be expected.

Two $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 9.2$ GeV Au+Au events are shown in side and end view in Fig. 62 and Fig. 63. The collision vertex is clearly defined and the mean η of the charged tracks is approximately zero in both cases, strongly indicating that



FIG. 57: The identified particle spectra as a function of centrality for Au+Au collisions at $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$ =19.6 GeV. From [108].

these are beam-beam collisions and not beam-gas or beam-beampipe.

STAR Preliminary



Au+Au 9.2 GeV (0-60%) Pb+Pb 8.8 GeV (0-43.5%) h⁺+h⁻ ο π 0.2 π 0.15 0.1 0.05 0 1.5 2 0.5 1 2.5 0 p_T (GeV/c)

FIG. 58: The corrected a) π and b) p p_T spectrum for $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 9.2 \text{ GeV Au}+\text{Au}$ data as a function of centrality at midrapidity (|y| < 0.5). From [105].

FIG. 59: The charged particle v₂ at $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 9.2$ GeV as a function of p_T . From [105, 221].

Many of the events recorded were beam-beampipe collisions due to the large diameter of the 9.2 GeV beam. These events, Fig. 64, are easily rejected off-line via cuts on the radial position of the primary vertex. In the left plot the beam spot due to beam-beam collisions is clearly seen at $x \sim 0.5$ cm and $y \sim -0.5$ cm. The beampipe, radius 5 cm, is also illuminated due to beam-beampipe events. The right hand plot of Fig. 64 shows the location in z of the beam-beampipe collisions. STAR's beampipe is made of beryllium in the |z| < 50 cm region and changes to aluminum in the |z| > 50 cm, outside of the nominal collision diamond. The increase in the number of events occurring in the large z range is due to the higher cross-section of Au on aluminum. Since the event rate will be low it has been decided that no attempt will be made to reject these online.

IV. THE P+P BASELINE

For certain measurements in the A+A energy scan ($\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 5-60 \text{ GeV}$) it is important to know well the baseline NN cross section and invariant spectra to use as references. Previous relevant measurements come from many different accelerators, AGS, PS, SPS, FNAL and ISR spanning 40 years of experiment. The quality of these measurements are in general poor, particularly at higher p_T due to limited statistics, but this may be all that we will have access to, since performing these measurements at RHIC is not feasible in the first years of BES program. In addition, agreement between different experiments is not perfect in several cases with differences up to 50% at high p_T . A number of articles have discussed the p+p systematics from available data in particular for high- p_T particles in regard to the RHIC data. Most data are for pions, both charged and neutral. Data are much sparser for other hadrons.

For fixed target energies relative to $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$ we tabulate the relation between the beam momentum and the $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$ for a number of energies where experiments have been performed in fixed target experiments, Table VI. In the following sections we discuss briefly relevant pion data from p+p collisions at lower energies, particularly related to the higher p_T ranges.





FIG. 60: The HBT projections of the 3-dimensional correlation functions for negative π data from 0-60% central Au+Au collisions at $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 9.2$ GeV. Fits shown are the Bowler-Sinyukov functions [222, 223]. From [105, 221].

FIG. 61: The HBT systematics as a function of $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$. Low energy data from STAR added to plot from [220].

P_{lab} (GeV)	$\sqrt{s} \; (\text{GeV})$	Facility
12	4.55	CERN
24	6.83	CERN
158	17.3	SPS
200	19.32	CERN,FNAL
400	27.36	CERN,FNAL
800	38.8	FNAL

TABLE VI: Relation between P_{lab} and c.m. energy in p+p collisions, where pp data exist.

A. Energies below top SPS

The very low energies were studies at AGS and CERN in the 1970's. In particular data were obtained at 12 and 24 GeV incident energy. Production at these low energies has no hard components, but arises essentially from various resonance productions resulting in an approximate m_T -scaled spectra up to the kinematic limit. This same feature is seen in A+A collisions, see e.g. Ref.[224] with preliminary data from Si+A at 14.6 A GeV. The main p+p data comes from Ref.[225] and for higher p_T data from Ref.[226]. In the energy range of 24-158 GeV fixed target there is really no available data and, as will be discussed, extrapolating between the measured data may be difficult and imprecise.

B. SPS, FNAL and ISR energies

A fairly extensive data-set for pion production from NA49 [227] covers a large x_F range. The data at mid-rapidity extend to p_T of 2.1 GeV/c. A summary of data around $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 22$ GeV was made by Arleo and d'Enterria [228] in order to parametrize the cross section for use in the comparison to RHIC data at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 22.4$ GeV (Cu+Cu). They made small energy dependent corrections based on pQCD to the available data between 21 and 23 GeV and gave a



FIG. 62: A more central Au+Au event at $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 9.2$ GeV, shown end on and from the side. The red frame is the TPC.



FIG. 63: A more peripheral Au+Au event at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 9.2$ GeV, shown end on and from the side. The red frame is the TPC.

parameterization that will be used below. The parameterization is given by

$$f(p_T) = p_0 \cdot [1 + (p_T/p_1)]^{p_2} * [1 - x_T]^{p_3},$$

with $p_0 = 176.3$, $p_1=2.38$, $p_2=-16.13$, $p_3 = 6.94$, and $\chi^2/ndf = 208.2/190$.

At FNAL high momentum π^+ and π^- data from p+p collisions were obtained by the E605 experiment at fixed target energies of 400 and 800 GeV with significant integrated luminosity, 436 pb^{-1} and 615 pb^{-1} , respectively [229]. The $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 38.8$ GeV data (800 GeV fixed) probes p_T out to 10 GeV/c, i.e. x_T of ~ 0.5. The errors on the data are typically 10% statistical and a similar value for the systematic uncertainty. This data-set is fairly consistent with a



FIG. 64: Left: The radial position of the reconstructed primary vertex in the Au+Au $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 9.2$ GeV test run. Right: The z position of the primary vertex for those events with a radial primary vertex position indicating they occurred in the beam pipe, R > 2 cm. The beampipe is constructed from beryllium for |z| < 50 cm and aluminum outside of this range.

measurement by the earlier data from the Chicago-Princeton collaboration [230], albeit there are differences in the order of 30%. The data at $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 27.4$ GeV has smaller p_T coverage.

The ISR π^0 data has often been summarized emphasizing the x_T -scaling properties, as has the fact that while the within experiment energy dependence (like CCOR) are well established, overall 30% disagreements on cross sections are quite common (see e.g. Ref. [231]). This kind of disagreement also exists between the ISR and FNAL experiments, even though the general trends are in good agreement.



FIG. 65: Invariant cross-sections for π^+ , π^- , and π^0 for various c.m. energies as indicated in the legend. The data are from reference given in the text.

FIG. 66: Scaled invariant cross sections for several energies. The full drawn curve is the best fit to the 22.4 GeV data.

C. RHIC 62.4 GeV

After the first RHIC A+A run at 62.4 GeV (Run 4) a compilation of p+p data for that energy was made by d'Enterria [232] and used for the first R_{AA} results. The different measurements from the ISR show significant differences from the mean cross sections (vs p_T) so a dedicated p+p run at 62.4 GeV at RHIC was warranted and carried out in 2006. The ISR data agree reasonably well with data from PHENIX [233] and unpublished BRAHMS data on π^+ and π^- . It noted that PHENIX changed the energy scale of the data from the CCOR experiment [234].

D. Energy dependence of high- p_T cross sections

In Fig. 65 we show some selected data for pion production from AGS to ISR energies plotted vs. p_T . The typical decrease of the hard scattering cross section as the energy is lowered is observed. Ref. [226] presents an overall function that describes the available data as of 1978. It gives a good overall description of data from AGS to ISR energies. We refer to the reference article for the functional form, which is quite complicated. Since its publication additional data has been reported and for the specific formulae to be used as a reliable interpolation between energies $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 5 - 30$ GeV it will have to be revisited and refit. However, it is expected to be well suited for a first order estimate of cross section in this energy regime.

In Fig. 66 we present the data from Fig. 65 in terms of the variable x_T as has been customary. STAR and PHENIX demonstrated in [233, 235] that the 62 and 200 GeV data falls on a common curve at large x_T when the cross sections are scaled by $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$ ⁿ with n=6.5 ± 08 and 6.38 respectively. At the lower ISR and SPS energies an increased n factor is needed to describe the data well. In Fig. 66 the cross sections have been scaled by $\sqrt{22.4}^n$ with n=8.2 as indicated by the CCOR data [234]. The very low energy data do not follow this trend, but correspond to an even higher factor of n indicative of non-perturbative effects dominating at lower energies. A value of n≈ 11 would allow scaling at high values of $x_t > 0.4$ from the two energies. We conclude that for $x_t > 0.15$ good scaling with energy is observed; thus the scaling function from Ref.[228] (solid curve in Fig. 66) is a usable description. Of course it cannot be used at lower x_T .

In addition the NA61 (SHINE) experiment is approved to run at the CERN SPS [236]. In 2009 they collected between $2-6 \times 10^6$ p+p events at $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 6.4, 7.8, 9.0, 12.7$ and 17.8 GeV. These new data should supplement those currently available, providing high statistics data at very similar collision energies to those planned for the RHIC BES.

In conclusion existing p+p data and parameterizations for $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} > 17$ GeV gives an adequate, albeit not perfect, description. At lower energies the higher p_T cross sections are not well known and subject to large interpolation errors. This may not be a big concern since at RHIC with the low luminosities at the low energies of the first BES this momentum range will not be accessible.

V. THE STAR DETECTOR

The STAR collider geometry immediately provides advantages in comparison to the SPS fixed target experiments. These advantages are two fold [237]. The first is that the detector occupancy at mid-rapidity increases much faster as a function of $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$ in a fixed target experiment than in a collider environment, as shown in Fig. 67. The second is that the particle acceptances are dependent on the beam energy in fixed target experiments, e.g. Fig. 68, whereas they are constant at colliders and similar, at mid-rapidity, for all particle types, Fig. 69 and Fig. 70. The reduction in track density means that for a given collision energy a detector in a collider environment has less problems with charge sharing of hits, and track merging resulting in a better reconstruction efficiency and cleaner particle identification. The constant acceptance also means that there is better control of the systematics of the measurements and that a number of the uncertainties cancel when comparisons at different $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$ are made. This is especially important for the energy scan as the identification of the CP is likely to be made by observing how various measures alter as a function of $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$.



FIG. 67: The mid-rapidity track density at 1 m radius in a collider setup compared to that of a fixed target as a function of $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$. Figure from [237].



FIG. 68: The acceptance for π and K used in the fluctuation analyses as a function of p_T and rapidity for NA49 at SPS fixed target collision energies of 20 and 40 GeV. Figure from [237]. The acceptance is greater for the inclusive spectra analyses.

A. STAR's Subsystems

This section briefly describes the various subsystems of STAR relevant to the BES, Fig. 71. Of particular interest to the CP search is the installation of the full barrel ToF which was completed during the 2009 summer shutdown. For a full description of STAR see [238] and references therein.



FIG. 69: The acceptance for π as a function of p_T and rapidity for STAR for $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 9.2$ GeV.



FIG. 70: The acceptance for K as a function of p_T and rapidity for STAR for $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 9.2$ GeV.



FIG. 71: Schematic of the STAR detector showing all the subsystems, including those currently being proposed and undergoing research and development studies.

1. Trigger Detectors

We propose to use the Beam-Beam Counters (BBCs) for triggering during the low energy runs. The collision rates at these low $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$ are only a few Hz so all events can be recorded and no selective trigger is required. Therefore it is proposed to use only a minimum bias trigger, i.e. that of a coincidence in the two BBCs.

The BBCs, shown schematically in Fig. 72, are positioned at ± 3.5 m from the center of the TPC along the beam direction. The small inner tiles, shown in blue in Fig. 72, cover $3.8 < |\eta| < 5.2$ and can all be inscribed within a

circle of 9.64 cm. The outer (red) tiles cover $2.2 < |\eta| < 3.8$. The RHIC beam passes through the center of the BBC (labeled B in Fig. 72. These annular scintillator detectors are sensitive to charged tracks down to the single minimum ionizing particle (MIP). Even at the lowest collision energies the number of produced particles in heavy-ion collisions is larger than in p+p collisions at $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 200$ GeV where they perform well. Table VII shows estimations of the number of particles hitting the inner and outer sections of the BBCs as a function of the interaction's centrality for Au+Au collisions at $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 5$ and 8.75 GeV.



FIG. 72: A schematic diagram of one of the BBCs.

TABLE VII: Estimation of number of charged particles in the BBCs in Au+Au collisions at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 5$ and 8.75 GeV for various impact parameters.

Impact Parameter	$\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 5 \text{ GeV}$	$\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 5 \text{ GeV}$	$\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 8.75 \text{ GeV}$	$\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 8.75 \text{ GeV}$
(fm)	BBC Inner	BBC Outer	BBC Inner	BBC Outer
0 <b<3< td=""><td>5</td><td>27</td><td>12</td><td>54</td></b<3<>	5	27	12	54
3 < b < 6	11	30	21	57
6 < b < 9	22	35	39	40
b>9	44	30	66	8

The BBC's will also be used to calculate the first order event plane, although with reduced resolution to that calculated from the FTPCs. More details are discussed below.

2. Time Projection Chamber

The main tracking detector in STAR remains the Time Projection Chamber (TPC). The active dimensions of the TPC radially are from 50 cm to 200 cm and it is 400 cm in length. This gives the TPC full azimuthal coverage and a uniform acceptance within $|\eta| < 1$. It is placed within a uniform solenoidal magnetic field which allows for the determination of the momenta of charged tracks. When the magnet is set to its maximum value of 0.5 T the transverse momentum resolution is $\Delta p_T/p_T \sim 0.012 p_T$ (p_T in GeV/c).

3. Time of Flight

The Multi-Gap Resistive Plate Chamber Time of Flight (MRPC ToF) [239, 240] will completely surround the outer radius of the TPC, $|\eta| < 0.9$, $0 < \phi < 2\pi$. It consists of 23K channels from 120 modules. The first MRPC tray was installed in Run 3 and it was full installed for Run 10. The ToF has an intrinsic stop time resolution of 80ps. After folding in STAR's start signal a total resolution of at least 120 ps will be achieved. This 120 ps total resolution is for the lowest $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$ values and will decrease significantly for higher energies. This gives the ToF an excellent mass resolution, see for example Fig. 73.

4. Forward Time Projection Chamber

The Forward Time Projection Chambers (FTPCs) are two radial drift TPCs which cover the region $2.5 < |\eta| < 4.0$. They have a 2-track resolution of 12 mm and a momentum resolution of 12-15%. Unfortunately due to the small number of hit points, there are only 10 recorded per track, in the FTPCs no PID is possible. It is planned to use the FTPCs as the main detectors used in the determination of the event plane, see later.

5. Photon Multiplicity Detector

The Photon Multiplicity Detector (PMD) [241] measures the inclusive number of photons (dominantly from π^0 decays) produced in the pseudorapidity regions of -2.3 to -3.8, with full azimuthal coverage. It also provides the spatial distribution of the photons in (η, ϕ) phase space.

The PMD therefore provides a unique opportunity of addressing physics at a higher baryon chemical potential (μ_B) compared to midrapidity measurements at a fixed beam energy. It also allows us to continue the studies of various scalings with N_{part}, y y_{beam}, started by the now decommissioned PHOBOS and BRAHMS experiments. In conjunction with the FTPCS (both of which are needed), it will provide a unique opportunity to look for a Disoriented Chiral Condensate and hence chiral phase transition. Measurements of v₁ and v₂ at forward rapidity for photons and neutral pions can be made.

B. Particle Identification

With completion of the full barrel ToF STAR will have excellent mid-rapidity PID capabilities. Good quality trackby-track particle identification is necessary for our proposed fluctuation measurements.

Charged particle identification will be performed via a combination of measured ionization in the TPC (dE/dx) and its ToF. The addition of the ToF allows for the identification of particles where their dE/dx as a function of momentum merge. Using these two techniques STAR will be able to resolve K and π up to momenta of 1.6 GeV/c and protons up to 3 GeV/c. Fig. 73 shows the measured $1/\beta$ of the ToF in d-Au collisions at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 200$ GeV and Fig. 74 shows the measured dE/dx of tracks in the TPC, the π , K, p and electron bands are clear. The colored curves indicated the $\pm 8\%$ deviation from dE/dx calculations using the Bichsel parameterization [242]. Using ionization measurements in the relativistic region of the TPC and the data from the ToF also allows the statistical identification of protons and π up to 12 GeV/c [243].

In addition STAR can use secondary vertexing to identify K_s^0 , Λ , $\overline{\Lambda}$, Ξ^- , $\overline{\Xi^-}$, Ω^- , and $\overline{\Omega^-}$ over the whole p_T range, and, via invariant mass mixed event techniques, a variety of resonances such as the ϕ and K^* and ρ (e.g. [244] and references therein).

C. Event Plane Resolution

STAR has excellent event plane resolution even at low $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$. Fig. 75 shows the measured second order event plane resolution using the TPC as a function of centrality for Au+Au events at $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 9.2$ GeV. Also shown for comparison is the event plane resolution for NA49 at $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 8.75$ GeV [91]. It can be seen that STAR's larger acceptance results in a much superior resolution. While the v₂ event plane can be calculated using the TPC, for v₁ measurements an



FIG. 73: Particle identification using the ToF in d-Au collisions at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 200 \text{GeV}$. π , K, p, and electron are clearly identifiable. The inset shows the projection of the ToF mass² measurements in the 1.2 $< p_T < 1.4 \text{ GeV/c}$ range.



FIG. 74: dE/dx measurements using the TPC. The curves represent the $\pm 8\%$ deviation from dE/dx calculations using the Bichsel parameterization for each particle.

independent determination of the event plane is necessary, this can be done by utilizing the FTPCs or with slightly less resolution the BBCs. Calculating the event plane in this away also minimizes several auto-correlation effects.



FIG. 75: Second order event plane resolutions for Au+Au events at $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 9.2$ GeV compared to that of NA49 at $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 8.75$ GeV [91].



FIG. 76: Estimated first order event plane resolutions as a function of impact parameter from RQMD simulations of Au+Au events at $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 5$ and 10 GeV using the BBCs. Similar results are obtained for all $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$. See text for details.

The first order event plane resolution of the BBCs is shown in Fig. 76 as a function of impact parameter for RQMD simulations of Au+Au events at $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 5$ and 10 GeV. For this simulation the BBC was fully instrumented. For the 2008 test run at $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 9.2$ GeV only the inner tiles were present so the resolution was degraded, (for details of the BBC please see section V A 1). The resolution for this dataset was estimated to be ~ 25% which is in good agreement to the resolution obtained from RQMD when the BBCs were simulated without the outer tiles. This confirms that the simulations are a good representation of the data. The resolution is similar for all collision energies discussed in this proposal.

D. Acceptance, Efficiency, and Particle Production Rates.

In order to make realistic estimates of the number of events needed to perform the analyses described in the previous sections it is important to be able to estimate the acceptances and tracking efficiencies of the various particles as well as their expected yields.

The correction factors (acceptance*efficiency) used for π , K and protons are estimated from those calculated for the $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 19.6$ GeV test run. For the ϕ , K_s^0 , Λ , and $\bar{\Lambda}$ results have not yet been obtained for the $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 19.6$ GeV data. Therefore the ϕ correction factors obtained for the most peripheral (70-80%) Au+Au at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 200$ GeV data were used, and for the K_s^0 , Λ , and $\bar{\Lambda}$ the Cu+Cu at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 200$ GeV values were used. For all particles that decay the branching ratio to their charged daughters are included in the correction factors. All curves were fit to the parameterization

$$Eff = a \times exp[(-b/p_T)^c]$$

where a, b and c are free parameters. While there is a correction factor dependence on occupancy it is small over these energy ranges and therefore neglected in these approximations. The resulting correction factor curves are shown in Fig 77. At the lowest $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$ proposed the efficiencies may be slightly lower than those assumed here due to the expected slightly worse timing of the ToF, see section VA 3.



FIG. 77: The mid-rapidity correction factors as a function of p_T assumed for the BES.

The estimated acceptances and efficiencies can be folded with the expected p_T spectra to determine the raw reconstructed particle yields as a function of $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$ and centrality. To estimate the rates and $\langle p_T \rangle$ at mid-rapidity for several $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$ energies and N_{part} a statistical model can be used together with the following formulae, from Ref. [245].

For a given $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$:

$$\mu_B = \frac{1.308}{1 + 0.273\sqrt{s_{NN}}} \tag{1}$$

$$T = 0.166 - 0.39\mu_B^2 - 0.053\mu_B^4 \tag{2}$$

This gives a very good phenomenological parameterization of the current data as shown in Fig. 78 [245]. Having calculated T and μ_B the statistical model can be used to calculate each particle/N_{ch} ratio. N_{ch} is then calculated via a phenomenological parameterization of Glauber model calculations of the number of binary collisions, N_{bin}, and the number of participants, N_{part} as a function of $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$.

$$N_{bin} = (0.314 + 8.7e^{-4}\sqrt{s_{NN}} - 1.8e^{-6}\sqrt{s_{NN}}^2)N_{part}^{4/3}$$
(3)

$$N_{ch} = (0.5933ln(\sqrt{s_{NN}}) - 0.4153) \times ((1 - 0.11)N_{part}/2 + 0.11N_{bin})$$
⁽⁴⁾

Given the particle/N_{ch} ratio and N_{ch} one can then estimate the mid-rapidity particle yields. A Blast-Wave parameterization is used to calculated the $\langle p_T \rangle$ where T_{kin}, the kinetic freeze-out temperature can be assumed to be independent of $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$ and set to 0.1 GeV/c while the mean transverse velocity can be estimated from:

$$\langle \beta \rangle = (0.388 + 0.186 \ln(0.7928N_{part} + 0.0129N_{part}^2 - 3.31600e^{-5}N_{part}^3 + 4.01681e^{-8}N_{part}^4)/N_{part}) (0.05727 \ln(\sqrt{s_{NN}}) + 0.2933)/0.592$$
(5)



FIG. 78: The calculated chemical freeze-out temperature, T, and chemical potential, μ_B , as functions of $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$. The curves are the phenomenological parameterizations used in our estimates of the particles yields. Figures from [245].

VI. SUMMARY AND THE RUN PLAN

For the first BES we propose to run a wide range of energies, from $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 5-39$ GeV, to truly scan over the available collision energies. We have selected lower $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$ values that give the greatest discovery potential for the CP as well

as higher energies to cover the current gap between the SPS and RHIC. This will allow us to explore the questions about "turn on/off" effects of signatures of partonic media such as the high and low p_T ridges and constituent quark scaling of the elliptic flow. Table VIII summarizes the measurements that drive the number of events we request at each collision energy.

$\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}}$ Number of events		$7.7 \mathrm{GeV}$	$11.5 \mathrm{GeV}$	$17.3 \mathrm{GeV}$	$27 \mathrm{GeV}$	$39 \mathrm{GeV}$
v_2 up to ~ 1.5 GeV/c	$0.3 \ {\rm M}$	0.2 M	$0.1 {\rm M}$	0.1	0.1 M	0.1 M
V1	$0.5 \ \mathrm{M}$	$0.5 \mathrm{M}$	$0.5 {\rm M}$	0.5	$0.5 \mathrm{M}$	$0.5 \mathrm{M}$
Azimuthally sensitive HBT	4 M	4 M	$3.5 {\rm M}$	3.5	3 M	3 M
PID fluctuations	1 M	1 M	1 M	1 M	1 M	1 M
Net proton kurtosis	4 M	4 M	4 M	4 M	4 M	4 M
Differential corr. and fluc. vs centrality	4 M	4 M	4 M	4 M	4 M	4 M
N_q scaling π , K, p, Λ to $m_T - m_0/N_q \sim 2GeV/c$	N/A	6 M (marginal)	$5 \mathrm{M}$	4.5 M	4.5 M	4.5 M
N_q scaling ϕ, Ω to $p_T/N_q \sim 2GeV/c$	N/A	56 M	$25 \mathrm{M}$	18 M	13 M	12 M
R_{cp} to $p_T \sim 4.5 \text{ GeV/c} (17.3), 5.5 \text{ GeV/c} (27), 6 \text{ GeV/c} (39)$	N/A	N/A	N/A	$15 \mathrm{M}$	33 M	24 M
Un-triggered ridge	N/A	27 M	13 M	8 M	6 M	6 M
Local Parity Violation	N/A	4 M	4 M	4 M	4 M	44 M

TABLE VIII: Estimate of number of events needed at each collision energy. The most statistics hungry measurements are listed.

Rate estimates are based on a number of ingredients. Most important are the data from the Au+Au beam test at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 9.2$ GeV taken during Run8. In particular, these data allow a determination of the actual rate of events on which STAR can trigger and that lie within a range of vertex positions for which STAR can perform the desired physics analyses. Thus, rates can be estimated as the number of good physics events with less uncertainty of the usable fraction of the total luminosity. The test run was very short with the emphasis on demonstrating capability rather than tuning for the highest possible event rate. The BNL Collider Accelerator Division (CAD) staff have indicated a high degree of confidence that these rates can be increased by a factor of about 6 via improvements in injection efficiency and increasing the number of bunches in the machine. Additional tuning is likely to provide further incremental rate improvements. Another option being explored is continuous injection to fill the bunches and extend the beam lifetime. This is expected to increase the integrated rate by a factor of about 2. Very significant rate increases may be possible using electron cooling. Until the details of the beam loss mechanisms at these low energies are determined, the exact gain that could be achieved is unknown but factors of about an order of magnitude are considered very possible. To be very conservative, none of these further possible enhancements are included in the estimates presented below.

Again based on consultation with CAD [246], it is estimated that the rates will scale up and down from the 9.2 GeV values by γ^3 up to the injection energy of and by roughly γ^2 above that. To cross-check these estimates, there are actual data rates taken by STAR during the early injection-energy run and also measurements of the injection energy luminosity under current operating conditions. The values typically quoted are total energy, so the γ of each beam is found by dividing by 2 and then by the average nucleon mass for a gold nucleus. These factors are independent of energy and therefore, the rate below injection energy simply scales with the cube of the beam energy. Using the measured values from the test run increased by the conservative values listed above, the rates are the following: Below injection energy: $6.5 \times 10^{-3} \times (\sqrt{s_{NN}})^3$ events/sec At injection energy: 48 events/sec Above injection energy: $12.6 \times 10^{-2} \times (\sqrt{s_{NN}})^2$ events/sec Note that, as mentioned above, these are estimates of the actual rate of events for which STAR can perform all of the desired physics analyses and are therefore not estimates of the total luminosity available from the accelerator. These estimates imply the following times required for 1 million events assuming 10 hours per day of beam. 5 GeV 0.8 evts/sec 35 days 10 GeV 6.4 evts/sec 4.3 days 20 GeV 50 evts/sec 0.6 days 40 GeV 200 evts/sec 0.14 days

A suggested run plan is shown in Table IX. The length of the run at each energy is determined by the minimum required number of events to perform the detailed measurements discussed in the previous sections. The lower beam energies are specifically chosen to map out region around the "horn" in the K/ π ratio observed by the SPS experiments [247]. All the selected energies allow collisions at both STAR and PHENIX; the lower $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$ values are also mapped as closely as possible to those already provided at the SPS.

$\sqrt{s_{NN}}$ (GeV)	$\mu_B \text{ (MeV)}$	Rate (Hz)	Event Count	Run Time (days)
5.0	550	0.8	Beam development	7
7.7	410	3	$4\mathrm{M}$	36
11.5	300	10	$4\mathrm{M}$	15
17.3	229	33	15M	13
27	151	92	33M	10
39	112	190	24M	4

TABLE IX: A run plan for STAR assuming a 10 hour day.

After analysis of the first run period is mature we propose that a second scan is performed focussed more specifically on a few collisions energies. These energies and physics topics will be chosen to explore in more depth the most interesting regions found via this first scan. We propose two runs since the second run, more data at fewer energies, can take advantage of further luminosity upgrades proposed by the RHIC accelerator division.

In summary there is great discovery potential for a Beam Energy Scan at RHIC. The most exciting result would be the identification of a Critical Point. Equally interesting would be the proof that at lower $\sqrt{s_{NN}}$ energies the transition to a QGP occurs via a first order phase transition. Either of these results would enable us to make precise entries on the Phase Diagram of QCD matter. Currently the most promising predictions for identifying these phenomena are critical point fluctuations of either p_T or conserved quantum numbers (baryon or strangeness), pair correlations or non-monatonic deviations in the energy dependence of flow characteristics. A scan will also provide results that would enable a more precise determination of the region where sQGP medium effects, such as constituent quark scaling of elliptic flow, (dis)appear.

Finally we have demonstrated that not only is STAR committed to performing a Beam Energy Scan but that the detector system is ideally suited for such an explorative endeavor. With the run plans detailed above we can make significant improvements not only to the existing SPS data but also plan to extend the investigations into regimes not yet probed by any experiments, and/or to include unexplored physics observations.

Acknowledgements

We especially thank the RHIC CA-D for all their help getting the RHIC BES program underway. They enthusiastically picked up the challenge to run RHIC at low energies, in particular at sub-injection energies. The Run-10 BES could not have been success without their hard work. We also thank the RHIC Operations Group and RCF at BNL, the NERSC Center at LBNL and the Open Science Grid consortium for providing resources and support. This work was supported in part by the Offices of NP and HEP within the U.S. DOE Office of Science, the U.S. NSF, the Sloan Foundation, the DFG cluster of excellence 'Origin and Structure of the Universe'of Germany, CNRS/IN2P3, STFC and EPSRC of the United Kingdom, FAPESP CNPq of Brazil, Ministry of Ed. and Sci. of the Russian Federation, NNSFC, CAS, MoST, and MoE of China, GA and MSMT of the Czech Republic, FOM and NWO of the Netherlands, DAE, DST, and CSIR of India, Polish Ministry of Sci. and Higher Ed., Korea Research Foundation, Ministry of Sci., Ed. and Sports of the Rep. Of Croatia, Russian Ministry of Sci. and Tech, and RosAtom of Russia.

[6] B. Mohanty, Nucl. Phys. A830, 899c (2009), 0907.4476.

^[1] J. Adams et al. (STAR), Nucl. Phys. A757, 102 (2005), nucl-ex/0501009.

^[2] K. Adcox et al. (PHENIX), Nucl. Phys. A757, 184 (2005), nucl-ex/0410003.

^[3] B. B. Back et al., Nucl. Phys. A757, 28 (2005), nucl-ex/0410022.

^[4] I. Arsene et al. (BRAHMS), Nucl. Phys. A757, 1 (2005), nucl-ex/0410020.

^[5] M. A. Stephanov, Prog. Theor. Phys. Suppl. 153, 139 (2004), hep-ph/0402115.

^[7] F. R. Brown et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 65, 2491 (1990).

- [8] M. Asakawa and K. Yazaki, Nucl. Phys. A504, 668 (1989).
- [9] A. Barducci, R. Casalbuoni, S. De Curtis, R. Gatto, and G. Pettini, Phys. Rev. D41, 1610 (1990).
- [10] A. Barducci, R. Casalbuoni, S. De Curtis, R. Gatto, and G. Pettini, Phys. Lett. B231, 463 (1989).
- [11] A. Barducci, R. Casalbuoni, G. Pettini, and R. Gatto, Phys. Rev. D49, 426 (1994).
- [12] J. Berges and K. Rajagopal, Nucl. Phys. B538, 215 (1999), hep-ph/9804233.
- [13] A. M. Halasz, A. D. Jackson, R. E. Shrock, M. A. Stephanov, and J. J. M. Verbaarschot, Phys. Rev. D58, 096007 (1998), hep-ph/9804290.
- [14] O. Scavenius, A. Mocsy, I. N. Mishustin, and D. H. Rischke, Phys. Rev. C64, 045202 (2001), nucl-th/0007030.
- [15] N. G. Antoniou and A. S. Kapoyannis, Phys. Lett. B563, 165 (2003), hep-ph/0211392.
- [16] Y. Hatta and T. Ikeda, Phys. Rev. D67, 014028 (2003), hep-ph/0210284.
- [17] F. Karsch et al., Nucl. Phys. Proc. Suppl. 129, 614 (2004), hep-lat/0309116.
- [18] Z. Fodor and S. D. Katz, JHEP 04, 050 (2004), hep-lat/0402006.
- [19] R. V. Gavai and S. Gupta, Phys. Rev. D71, 114014 (2005), hep-lat/0412035.
- [20] Z. Fodor and S. D. Katz (2009), 0908.3341.
- [21] P. de Forcrand and O. Philipsen, JHEP 01, 077 (2007), hep-lat/0607017.
- [22] R. V. Gavai and S. Gupta, Phys. Rev. D78, 114503 (2008), 0806.2233.
- [23] C. Schmidt (RBC-Bielefeld), Nucl. Phys. A820, 41c (2009), 0810.4024.
- [24] M. A. Stephanov, K. Rajagopal, and E. V. Shuryak, Phys. Rev. Lett. 81, 4816 (1998), hep-ph/9806219.
- [25] P. F. Kolb, J. Sollfrank, and U. W. Heinz, Phys. Rev. C62, 054909 (2000), hep-ph/0006129.
- [26] M. Gazdzicki, M. I. Gorenstein, and S. Mrowczynski, Phys. Lett. B585, 115 (2004), hep-ph/0304052.
- [27] M. I. Gorenstein, M. Gazdzicki, and O. S. Zozulya, Phys. Lett. B585, 237 (2004), hep-ph/0309142.
- [28] J.-Y. Ollitrault, Phys. Rev. D46, 229 (1992).
- [29] E. Shuryak (2005), hep-ph/0504048.
- [30] E. L. Bratkovskaya et al. (2004), nucl-th/0401031.
- [31] S. Ejiri, F. Karsch, and K. Redlich, Phys. Lett. B633, 275 (2006), hep-ph/0509051.
- [32] M. Asakawa, S. A. Bass, B. Muller, and C. Nonaka, Phys. Rev. Lett. 101, 122302 (2008), 0803.2449.
- [33] M. A. Stephanov, K. Rajagopal, and E. V. Shuryak, Phys. Rev. D60, 114028 (1999), hep-ph/9903292.
- [34] B. Berdnikov and K. Rajagopal, Phys. Rev. D61, 105017 (2000), hep-ph/9912274.
- [35] M. Asakawa and C. Nonaka, Nucl. Phys. A774, 753 (2006), nucl-th/0509091.
- [36] V. Koch (2008), 0810.2520.
- [37] M. Cheng et al., Phys. Rev. D79, 074505 (2009), 0811.1006.
- [38] S. Voloshin, CPOD2005, http://web.ift.uib.no/criticalpoint/talks/SVoloshin.pdf, (2005).
- [39] J. Adams et al. (STAR), Phys. Rev. C72, 044902 (2005), nucl-ex/0504031.
- [40] J. Adams et al. (STAR), J. Phys. **G33**, 451 (2007), nucl-ex/0605021.
- [41] T. Anticic et al. (NA49), Phys. Rev. C70, 034902 (2004), hep-ex/0311009.
- [42] M. Gazdzicki and S. Mrowczynski, Z. Phys. C54, 127 (1992).
- [43] K. Grebieszkow et al., PoS **CPOD07**, 022 (2007), 0707.4608.
- [44] H. Sako and H. Appelshaeuser (CERES/NA45), J. Phys. G30, S1371 (2004), nucl-ex/0403037.
- [45] C. Alt et al. (NA49), Phys. Rev. C79, 044910 (2009), 0808.1237.
- [46] B. I. Abelev et al. (STAR), Phys. Rev. Lett. 103, 092301 (2009), 0901.1795.
- [47] G. Torrieri, Int. J. Mod. Phys. E16, 1783 (2007), nucl-th/0702062.
- [48] J. Rafelski and J. Letessier, Eur. Phys. J. A29, 107 (2006), nucl-th/0511016.
- [49] M. I. Gorenstein, M. Hauer, V. P. Konchakovski, and E. L. Bratkovskaya, Phys. Rev. C79, 024907 (2009), 0811.3089.
- [50] M. Bleicher et al., J. Phys. G25, 1859 (1999), hep-ph/9909407.
- [51] T. Schuster (NA49), PoS CPOD2009, 029 (2009), 0910.0558.
- [52] J. Tian (STAR), SQM 2009 To be published in J. Phys. G (2010).
- [53] V. Koch, A. Majumder, and J. Randrup, Phys. Rev. Lett. 95, 182301 (2005), nucl-th/0505052.
- [54] S. Haussler, H. Stoecker, and M. Bleicher, Phys. Rev. C73, 021901 (2006), hep-ph/0507189.
- [55] M. A. Stephanov, Phys. Rev. Lett. **102**, 032301 (2009), 0809.3450.
- [56] M. M. Aggarwal et al. (2010), 1004.4959.
- [57] S. A. Bass et al., Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 41, 255 (1998), nucl-th/9803035.
- [58] H. Petersen, M. Bleicher, S. A. Bass, and H. Stocker (2008), 0805.0567.
- [59] M. Bleicher, In preparation (2009).
- [60] P. Sorensen (STAR), J. Phys. G34, S897 (2007), nucl-ex/0612021.
- [61] B. Alver et al. (PHOBOS), J. Phys. G35, 104101 (2008), 0804.4297.
- [62] P. Sorensen (2009), 0905.0174.
- [63] S. Mrowczynski, Phys. Lett. B430, 9 (1998), nucl-th/9712030.
- [64] M. M. Aggarwal et al. (WA98), Phys. Rev. C65, 054912 (2002), nucl-ex/0108029.
- [65] F. Karsch, E. Laermann, and A. Peikert, Nucl. Phys. B605, 579 (2001), hep-lat/0012023.
- [66] Z. Fodor and S. D. Katz, Phys. Lett. **B534**, 87 (2002), hep-lat/0104001.
- [67] C. R. Allton et al., Phys. Rev. D66, 074507 (2002), hep-lat/0204010.
- [68] M. A. Braun and C. Pajares, Eur. Phys. J. C16, 349 (2000), hep-ph/9907332.
- [69] M. A. Braun and C. Pajares, Phys. Rev. Lett. 85, 4864 (2000), hep-ph/0007201.
- [70] M. A. Braun, F. Del Moral, and C. Pajares, Phys. Rev. C65, 024907 (2002), hep-ph/0105263.

- [71] T.Tarnowsky, Ph.D. thesis, Physics Department, Purdue University (2008).
- [72] M. A. Braun, R. S. Kolevatov, C. Pajares, and V. V. Vechernin, Eur. Phys. J. C32, 535 (2004), hep-ph/0307056.
- [73] P. Brogueira and J. Dias de Deus, Phys. Lett. **B653**, 202 (2007), hep-ph/0611329.
- [74] B. I. Abelev et al. (STAR), Phys. Rev. Lett. 103, 172301 (2009), 0905.0237.
- [75] N. S. Amelin, N. Armesto, C. Pajares, and D. Sousa, Eur. Phys. J. C22, 149 (2001), hep-ph/0103060.
- [76] Y. V. Kovchegov, E. Levin, and L. D. McLerran, Phys. Rev. C63, 024903 (2001), hep-ph/9912367.
- [77] X.-N. Wang and M. Gyulassy, Phys. Rev. D44, 3501 (1991).
- [78] C. Alt et al. (NA49), Phys. Rev. C73, 044910 (2006).
- [79] J. Adams et al. (STAR), Phys. Rev. Lett. 98, 062301 (2007), nucl-ex/0606014.
- [80] J. Takahashi (STAR), J. Phys. **G35**, 044007 (2008), 0711.2273.
- [81] R. Stock, Phys. Lett. **B456**, 277 (1999), hep-ph/9905247.
- [82] P. Braun-Munzinger, J. Cleymans, H. Oeschler, and K. Redlich, Nucl. Phys. A697, 902 (2002), hep-ph/0106066.
- [83] S. S. Adler et al. (PHENIX), Phys. Rev. Lett. 94, 232302 (2005), nucl-ex/0411040.
- [84] S. A. Voloshin, A. M. Poskanzer, and R. Snellings (2008), 0809.2949.
- [85] P. F. Kolb and U. W. Heinz (2003), nucl-th/0305084.
- [86] P. Huovinen and P. V. Ruuskanen, Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 56, 163 (2006), nucl-th/0605008.
- [87] S. Mrowczynski, PoS **CPOD2006**, 042 (2006), hep-ph/0611067.
- [88] A. H. Mueller, Nucl. Phys. A **702**, 065 (2002).
- [89] L. D. McLerran and R. Venugopalan, Phys. Rev. D50, 2225 (1994), hep-ph/9402335.
- [90] Y. V. Kovchegov and A. Taliotis, Phys. Rev. C76, 014905 (2007), 0705.1234.
- [91] C. Alt et al. (NA49), Phys. Rev. C68, 034903 (2003), nucl-ex/0303001.
- [92] P. Danielewicz, Nucl. Phys. A661, 82 (1999), nucl-th/9907098.
- [93] P. F. Kolb, J. Sollfrank, and U. W. Heinz, Phys. Lett. B459, 667 (1999), nucl-th/9906003.
- [94] M. M. Aggarwal et al. (WA93), Phys. Lett. B403, 390 (1997).
- [95] M. M. Aggarwal et al. (WA98), Eur. Phys. J. C41, 287 (2005), nucl-ex/0406022.
- [96] R. Raniwala (STAR), J. Phys. **G35**, 104104 (2008).
- [97] L. P. Csernai and D. Rohrich, Phys. Lett. B458, 454 (1999), nucl-th/9908034.
- [98] H. Stoecker, Nuclear Physics A 750, 121 (2005).
- [99] A. M. Poskanzer and S. A. Voloshin, Phys. Rev. C58, 1671 (1998), nucl-ex/9805001.
- [100] H. Sorge, Phys. Rev. Lett. 78, 2309 (1997), nucl-th/9610026.
- [101] N. Herrmann, J. P. Wessels, and T. Wienold, Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 49, 581 (1999).
- [102] J. Brachmann et al., Phys. Rev. C61, 024909 (2000), nucl-th/9908010.
- [103] R. J. M. Snellings, H. Sorge, S. A. Voloshin, F. Q. Wang, and N. Xu, Phys. Rev. Lett. 84, 2803 (2000), nucl-ex/9908001.
- [104] M. Bleicher and H. Stoecker, Phys. Lett. **B526**, 309 (2002), hep-ph/0006147.
- [105] B. I. Abelev et al. (STAR), Phys. Rev. C81, 024911 (2010), 0909.4131.
- [106] E. Schnedermann, J. Sollfrank, and U. W. Heinz, Phys. Rev. C48, 2462 (1993), nucl-th/9307020.
- [107] L. Kumar (STAR) (2008), arXiv:0812.4099.
- [108] D. Cebra (STAR) (2009), 0903.4702.
- [109] C. Alt et al. (NA49), Phys. Rev. C77, 024903 (2008), 0710.0118.
- [110] M. Gazdzicki and M. I. Gorenstein, Acta Phys. Polon. B30, 2705 (1999), hep-ph/9803462.
- [111] G. Odyniec (STAR), J. Phys. **G35**, 104164 (2008).
- [112] J. Cleymans and K. Redlich, Phys. Rev. Lett. 81, 5284 (1998), nucl-th/9808030.
- [113] S. V. Afanasiev et al. (NA49), Phys. Rev. C66, 054902 (2002), nucl-ex/0205002.
- [114] B. I. Abelev et al. (STAR), Phys. Rev. C79, 034909 (2009), 0808.2041.
- [115] L. Ahle et al. (E-802), Phys. Rev. C58, 3523 (1998).
- [116] L. Ahle et al. (E-802), Phys. Rev. C60, 044904 (1999), nucl-ex/9903009.
- [117] J. L. Klay et al. (E895), Phys. Rev. C68, 054905 (2003), nucl-ex/0306033.
- [118] P. Koch and C. B. Dover, Phys. Rev. C40, 145 (1989).
- [119] G. J. Wang, R. Bellwied, C. Pruneau, and G. Welke (1998), nucl-th/9806006.
- [120] D. H. Rischke and M. Gyulassy, Nucl. Phys. A608, 479 (1996), nucl-th/9606039.
- [121] J. Adams et al. (STAR), Phys. Rev. Lett. 93, 012301 (2004), nucl-ex/0312009.
- [122] M. A. Lisa and S. Pratt (2008), arXiv:0811.1352.
- [123] F. Retiere and M. A. Lisa, Phys. Rev. C70, 044907 (2004), nucl-th/0312024.
- [124] M. A. Lisa, U. W. Heinz, and U. A. Wiedemann, Phys. Lett. B489, 287 (2000), nucl-th/0003022.
- [125] U. W. Heinz and P. F. Kolb (2002), hep-ph/0204061.
- [126] W. Reisdorf and H. G. Ritter, Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 47, 663 (1997).
- [127] M. Csanad et al., Eur. Phys. J. A38, 363 (2008), nucl-th/0512078.
- [128] J. Adams et al. (STAR), Phys. Rev. Lett. 92, 052302 (2004), nucl-ex/0306007.
- [129] J. Adams et al. (STAR), Phys. Rev. C72, 014904 (2005), nucl-ex/0409033.
- [130] J. Adams et al. (STAR), Phys. Rev. Lett. 95, 122301 (2005), nucl-ex/0504022.
- [131] J. Adams et al. (STAR), Phys. Rev. Lett. **92**, 112301 (2004), nucl-ex/0310004.
- [132] R. C. Hwa and C. B. Yang, Phys. Rev. C66, 025205 (2002), hep-ph/0204289.
- [133] V. Greco, C. M. Ko, and P. Levai, Phys. Rev. Lett. 90, 202302 (2003), nucl-th/0301093.
- [134] R. J. Fries, B. Muller, C. Nonaka, and S. A. Bass, Phys. Rev. Lett. 90, 202303 (2003), nucl-th/0301087.

- [136] Z. wei Lin, C. M. Ko, B.-A. Li, B. Zhang, and S. Pal, Physical Review C 72, 064901 (2005).
- [137] C. Alt et al. (NA49), Phys. Rev. Lett. $94,\,192301$ (2005), nucl-ex/0409004.
- [138] C. Alt et al. (NA49), Phys. Rev. C78, 044907 (2008), 0806.1937.
- [139] M. Issah (PHENIX), J. Phys. G35, 104103 (2008), 0805.4039.
- [140] S. Shi (STAR), Nucl. Phys. A830, 187c (2009), 0907.2265.
- [141] D. Prindle (STAR), Poster at QM2009 Conference (2009).
- [142] M. A. C. Lamont (STAR), J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 50, 192 (2006), nucl-ex/0608017.
- [143] C. Alt et al. (NA49), Phys. Rev. C77, 034906 (2008), 0711.0547.
- [144] M. M. Aggarwal et al. (WA98), Phys. Rev. Lett. 100, 242301 (2008), 0708.2630.
- [145] J. W. Cronin et al., Phys. Rev. D11, 3105 (1975).
- [146] B. I. Abelev et al. (STAR), Phys. Lett. **B655**, 104 (2007), nucl-ex/0703040.
- [147] B. I. Abelev et al. (STAR), Phys. Rev. Lett. 97, 152301 (2006), nucl-ex/0606003.
- [148] B. I. Abelev et al. (STAR), Phys. Rev. C80, 064912 (2009), 0909.0191.
- [149] M. Daugherity (STAR), J. Phys. **G35**, 104090 (2008), 0806.2121.
- [150] A. Dumitru, F. Gelis, L. McLerran, and R. Venugopalan, Nucl. Phys. A810, 91 (2008), 0804.3858.
- [151] P. Sorensen (2008), arXiv:0811.2959.
- [152] J. Adams et al. (STAR), Phys. Rev. Lett. 97, 162301 (2006), nucl-ex/0604018.
- [153] J. Putschke, J. Phys. G34, S679 (2007), nucl-ex/0701074.
- [154] C. Nattrass, Eur. Phys. J. C62, 265 (2009), 0809.5261.
- [155] S. Kniege and M. Ploskon (CERES), J. Phys. G34, S697 (2007), nucl-ex/0703008.
- [156] M. Szuba (NA49), Nucl. Phys. A830, 159c (2009), 0907.4403.
- [157] A. Bazavov et al., Phys. Rev. D80, 014504 (2009), 0903.4379.
- [158] J. Rafelski and B. Muller, Phys. Rev. Lett. 48, 1066 (1982).
- [159] P. Koch, B. Muller, and J. Rafelski, Phys. Rept. 142, 167 (1986).
- [160] S. Okubo, Phys. Lett. 5, 165 (1963).
- [161] G. Zweig (1964), unpublished CERN-TH-401.
- [162] G. Zweig (1964), unpublished CERN-TH-412.
- [163] J. Iizuka, K. Okada, and O. Shito, Prog. Theor. Phys. 35, 1061 (1966).
- [164] S. V. Afanasev et al. (NA49), Nucl. Phys. A698, 104 (2002).
- [165] C. Bormann et al. (NA49), J. Phys. G23, 1817 (1997).
- [166] L. Ahle et al. (E866), Phys. Lett. B476, 1 (2000), nucl-ex/9910008.
- [167] L. Ahle et al. (E802), Phys. Rev. C57, 466 (1998).
- [168] L. Ahle et al. (E866), Phys. Lett. B490, 53 (2000), nucl-ex/0008010.
- [169] P. Vincent et al. (E802), Nucl. Phys. A498, 67c (1989).
- [170] C. Alt et al. (NA49), Phys. Rev. C77, 024903 (2008), 0710.0118.
- [171] I. G. Bearden et al. (BRAHMS), Phys. Rev. Lett. 94, 162301 (2005), nucl-ex/0403050.
- [172] J. Lee. et al. (BRAHMS), Shown at the International Conference on Strangeness in Quark Matter, Los Angeles (2006).
- [173] M. Gazdzicki and D. Roehrich, Z. Phys. C65, 215 (1995).
- [174] M. Gazdzicki and D. Rohrich, Z. Phys. C71, 55 (1996), hep-ex/9607004.
- [175] F. Antinori et al. (NA57), J. Phys. G32, 427 (2006), nucl-ex/0601021.
- [176] F. Antinori et al. (NA57), Phys. Lett. B595, 68 (2004), nucl-ex/0403022.
- [177] http://wa97.web.cern.ch/WA97/yields.html (2009).
- [178] M. K. Mitrovski et al. (NA49), J. Phys. **G32**, S43 (2006), nucl-ex/0606004.
- [179] C. Blume (Na49), J. Phys. **G34**, S951 (2007), nucl-ex/0701042.
- [180] C. Alt et al. (NA49), Phys. Rev. C78, 034918 (2008), 0804.3770.
- [181] J. Milosevic (CERES), J. Phys. G32, S97 (2006), nucl-ex/0606020.
- [182] C. Adler et al. (STAR), Phys. Rev. Lett. 89, 092301 (2002), nucl-ex/0203016.
- [183] J. Adams et al. (STAR), Phys. Rev. Lett. 92, 182301 (2004), nucl-ex/0307024.
- [184] F. Becattini, J. Manninen, and M. Gazdzicki, Phys. Rev. C73, 044905 (2006), hep-ph/0511092.
- [185] A. Andronic, P. Braun-Munzinger, and J. Stachel, Nucl. Phys. A772, 167 (2006), nucl-th/0511071.
- [186] K. Redlich and A. Tounsi, Eur. Phys. J. C24, 589 (2002), hep-ph/0111261.
- [187] C. Hohne, F. Puhlhofer, and R. Stock, Phys. Lett. B640, 96 (2006), hep-ph/0507276.
- [188] K. Werner, Phys. Rev. Lett. 98, 152301 (2007), nucl-th/0704.1270.
- [189] B. I. Abelev et al. (STAR), Phys. Rev. C79, 064903 (2009), 0809.4737.
- [190] B. I. Abelev et al. (STAR), Phys. Lett. **B673**, 183 (2009), 0810.4979.
- [191] K. Adcox et al. (PHENIX), Phys. Rev. Lett. 86, 3500 (2001), nucl-ex/0012008.
- [192] B. B. Back et al. (PHOBOS), Phys. Rev. Lett. 93, 082301 (2004), nucl-ex/0311009.
- [193] J. Adams et al. (STAR), Phys. Rev. C73, 034906 (2006), nucl-ex/0511026.
- [194] M. J. Murray and B. Holzer, Phys. Rev. C63, 054901 (2001), nucl-ex/0008006.
- [195] R. Belmont (PHENIX), Eur. Phys. J. C62, 243 (2009).
- [196] S. S. Adler et al. (PHENIX), Phys. Rev. Lett. 94, 122302 (2005), nucl-ex/0406004.
- [197] V. I. Kolesnikov (NA49), J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 110, 032010 (2008), arXiv:0710.5118.
- [198] G. Melkumov et al. (NA49), PoS CPOD07, 024 (2007), 0709.3030.

- [199] H. Stoecker, J. Phys. **G10**, L111 (1984), and reference therein.
- [200] J. Simon-Gillo et al. (NA44), Nucl. Phys. A590, 483c (1995).
- [201] S. Afanasiev et al. (NA49), Phys. Lett. **B486**, 22 (2000).
- [202] T. Anticic et al. (NA49), Phys. Rev. C69, 024902 (2004).
- [203] I. G. Bearden et al. (NA44), Eur. Phys. J. C23, 237 (2002).
- [204] R. Scheibl and U. W. Heinz, Phys. Rev. C59, 1585 (1999), nucl-th/9809092.
- [205] W. J. Llope et al., Phys. Rev. C52, 2004 (1995).
- [206] A. Polleri, Ph.D. thesis, Faculty of Science, University of Copenhagen (1999).
- [207] I. G. Bearden et al. (NA44), Nucl. Phys. A661, 387 (1999).
- [208] M. Danysz and J. Pnieewski, Phil. Mag 44, 348 (1953).
- [209] J. M. Lattimer and M. Prakash, Science 304, 536 (2004), astro-ph/0405262.
- [210] D. H. Davis, Nucl. Phys. A547, 369c (1992).
- [211] B. I. Abelev (The STAR), Science **328**, 58 (2010), 1003.2030.
- [212] H. Liu and Z. Xu (2006), nucl-ex/0610035.
- [213] D. Kharzeev, R. D. Pisarski, and M. H. G. Tytgat, Phys. Rev. Lett. 81, 512 (1998), hep-ph/9804221.
- [214] D. Kharzeev and R. D. Pisarski, Phys. Rev. **D61**, 111901 (2000), hep-ph/9906401.
- [215] D. Kharzeev, Phys. Lett. **B633**, 260 (2006), hep-ph/0406125.
- [216] S. A. Voloshin, Phys. Rev. C70, 057901 (2004), hep-ph/0406311.
- [217] B. I. Abelev et al. (STAR), Phys. Rev. Lett. 103, 251601 (2009), 0909.1739.
- [218] B. I. Abelev et al. (STAR), Phys. Rev. C81, 054908 (2010), 0909.1717.
- [219] J. Chen (STAR) (2009), 0910.0556.
- [220] C. Adler et al. (STAR), Phys. Rev. Lett. 87, 082301 (2001), nucl-ex/0107008.
- [221] D. Das (STAR) (2009), 0906.0630.
- [222] M. G. Bowler, Phys. Lett. **B270**, 69 (1991).
- [223] Y. Sinyukov, R. Lednicky, S. V. Akkelin, J. Pluta, and B. Erazmus, Phys. Lett. B432, 248 (1998).
- [224] B. A. Cole (E802), Nucl. Phys. A544, 553c (1992).
- [225] V. Blobel et al. (Bonn-Hamburg-Munich), Nucl. Phys. B69, 454 (1974).
- [226] E. W. Beier et al., Phys. Rev. D18, 2235 (1978).
- [227] C. Alt et al. (NA49), Eur. Phys. J. C45, 343 (2006), hep-ex/0510009.
- [228] F. Arleo and D. d'Enterria, Phys. Rev. D78, 094004 (2008), 0807.1252.
- [229] D. E. Jaffe et al., Phys. Rev. D40, 2777 (1989).
- [230] D. Antreasyan et al., Phys. Rev. **D19**, 764 (1979).
- [231] M. J. Tannenbaum, J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 27, 1 (2005), nucl-ex/0507020.
- [232] D. G. d'Enterria, J. Phys. G31, S491 (2005), nucl-ex/0411049.
- [233] A. Adare et al. (PHENIX), Phys. Rev. D79, 012003 (2009), 0810.0701.
- [234] A. L. S. Angelis et al. (CERN-Columbia-Oxford-Rockefeller), Phys. Lett. B79, 505 (1978).
- [235] J. Adams et al. (STAR), Phys. Lett. B637, 161 (2006), nucl-ex/0601033.
- [236] M. Gazdzicki (NA61/SHINE) (2008), arXiv:0812.4415.
- [237] G. Roland, Experimental Overview and Prospects for RHIC, http://www.bnl.gov/riken/qcdrhic/talks.asp (2006).
- [238] K. H. Ackermann et al. (STAR), Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A499, 624 (2003).
- [239] F. Geurts et al., Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A533, 60 (2004).
- [240] W. J. Llope, Nucl. Instrum. Meth. **B241**, 306 (2005).
- [241] M. M. Aggarwal et al., Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A499, 751 (2003), nucl-ex/0212006.
- [242] H. Bichsel, Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A562, 154 (2006).
- [243] M. Shao et al., Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A558, 419 (2006), nucl-ex/0505026.
- [244] G. Wang (STAR), Nucl. Phys. A830, 19c (2009), 0907.4504.
- [245] J. Cleymans, H. Oeschler, K. Redlich, and S. Wheaton, Phys. Rev. C73, 034905 (2006), hep-ph/0511094.
- [246] T. Satogata (CAD/RHIC), PoS CPOD2007, 051 (2007).
- [247] M. Gazdzicki et al. (NA49), J. Phys. G30, S701 (2004), nucl-ex/0403023.
- [248] The BES had a very successful start in run 10 with data being recorded at $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 62, 39, 11.5$ and 7.7 GeV.